Louisiana State University LSU Digital Commons

LSU Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

2015

Social Functioning in Schizotypy: An Exploration of Communicative Effectiveness through Speech Analysis and Observer Rated Performance in a Socially Demanding Task

Tracey Lauren Auster Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College, tauster216@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations Part of the <u>Psychology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Auster, Tracey Lauren, "Social Functioning in Schizotypy: An Exploration of Communicative Effectiveness through Speech Analysis and Observer Rated Performance in a Socially Demanding Task" (2015). *LSU Doctoral Dissertations*. 2635. https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool_dissertations/2635

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contactgradetd@lsu.edu.

SOCIAL FUNCTIONING IN SCHIZOTYPY: AN EXPLORATION OF COMMUNICATIVE EFFECTIVENESS THROUGH SPEECH ANALYSIS AND OBSERVER RATED PERFORMANCE IN A SOCIALLY DEMANDING TASK

A Dissertation Defense

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate in Philosophy

in

The Department of Psychology

by Tracey L. Auster M.A., Louisiana State University, 2013 B.A., Franklin & Marshall, 2007 December 2015

Acknowledgments

I am so privileged to finally be able to print thanks to the mentors, family members, and friends who made these years and this piece of work possible. First, to Dr. Alex Cohen, my advisor, professional counselor and molder of all things clinical psychology. My ability to create, and to proficiently accomplish was shaped by everything you taught me. To my committee and professors (especially Emily Elliott, Amy Copeland, and Bryan Gros) you helped guide and buttress my skills as a psychologist. To my fellow lab mates and LSU family (especially Tony Ecker, Mackenzie Peltier, Sean Morrison, Jennifer Beighley, Kyle Mitchell, Krystal Waldo) you supported, taught and compensated for me for the greater part of my early adulthood, you aren't just peers, you are now the people that I consider helped to make me the person and professional I always wanted to be. To Rachel, who doctored my entire graduate career and personal development. You are the best friend anyone has ever had, I was so lucky you enveloped me and now I can't imagine a life without you starring in it. To Jamie, who loves me despite the fact that I wasn't always nice through this, and who taught me more mindfulness than any book could. To Dana, my sister and my touchstone, your belief in me made me believe to. To Julia, you listened, metabolized, and made possible my perseverance. You deserve this doctorate as much as I do. We did it. To my Mother, who led me by example, edited and improved everything I've ever done and who will always be the person whose opinion carries the most weight and whose backing makes everything better and bigger. To my Father, who didn't just show me the way but carved out the tunnel so I could see. Both of your devotion, genuine ambition and passion for caring for people guided me in how to do this well, do it earnestly, and for the right reasons.

Table of Contents

Aknowledgements	ii
List of Tables	iii
Variable Abbreviation/Measure Summary Sheet	iv
Abstract	v
Schizotypy & Schizophrenia	1
Importance of This Topic	
Method	19
Results	
Discussion	
References	5049
Appendix A	61
Appendix B	65
Appendix C	63
VITA	68

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Data27	
Table 2. Descriptive (Means, Ranges) for Global and Schizotypy Measure (HiSoc and SPQ)) 28
Table 3. T-Tests for Gender and Clinical Variables for Participants	29
Table 4. Pearson's Correlations Between Factor Scores and the HiSoc Total Scores	30
Table 5. Pearson's Correlations of Schizotypy Scores, Global Social Functioning, and a Mea	asure
of Emotional Withdrawal	30
Table 6. Pearson's Correlations Between CANS Variables And SPQ	31
Table 7. Pearson's Correlations Between LIWC Variables and SPQ	31
Table 8. Pearson's Correlations Between Facial Expression Variables and SPQ	32
Table 9. Pearson's Correlations Between Global Functioning (HiSoc) and Local Functioning	g
(acoustic analysis, LIWC, facial expression)	33
Table 10. Pearson's Correlations Between SPQ Factors and Global Functioning (HiSoc)	35
Table 11. Pearson's Correlations Between SPQ Factors and All Local measures of Function	ing
(acoustic analysis, LIWC, facial expression)	35
Table 12. Pearson's Correlations Between SPQ Distress Variables and Global Functioning	
(HiSoc)	37
Table 13. Pearson's Correlations Between SPQ Distress Scores and All Local Measures of	
Functioning (acoustic analysis, LIWC, facial expression)	37
Table 14. Domains of Social Functioning	
(Based on the High-Risk Social Challenge Task (HiSoc; Gibson & Penn, 2009)	66

Variable Abbreviation/Measure Summary Sheet

Acoustic Analysis Variables

Pause. Mean: Average amount of compilations of 50 milliseconds of silence
F0.SD.Local: Standard deviation of frequency associated with pitch
F0.Pert: Frequency associated with jitteriness (perturbation)
F1.SD.Local: Standard deviation of the frequency associated with articulation of words (important for vowel expression)
F2.SD.Local: Standard deviation of frequency associated with tongue articulation (back and forth tongue movement), also important for vowel expression.
Intensity.SD.Global: Standard deviation of volume variability
Intensity. Pert: Volume of jitteriness through variability in vocal short frames of speech

LIWC Variables

LexPos: Positive factor computed from positive word stems on the LIWC *NegPos:* Negative factor computed from negative word stems *Certainty:* Computed by word stems of never and always, shown to demonstrate certainty and confidence in answers

Facial Expression Variables

Negfac: Factor computed for negative facial expressions and movements. *Posface:* Factor computed for positive facial expressions and movements *Neutfac:* Factor computed for neutral facial expressions and movements

HiSoc Variables

HiSocO: Total overall social functioning score *Beh/Lang:* Behavior/language factor of the HiSoc *Affect:* Affect factor of the HiSoc *Soc-Int:* Social-Interpersonal factor of the HiSoc

SPQ Variables

SPQPos: Positive factor computed from positive symptom traits on the SPQ *SPQNeg*: Negative factor computed from negative symptom traits on the SPQ *SPQDisorg*: Computed by factors with disorganized symptoms of the SPQ

<u>SPQ Distress Variables</u> <u>PosDis:</u> Distress over positive traits on the SPQ <u>NegDis:</u> Distress over negative traits on the SPQ <u>DisorgDis:</u> Distress over disorganized traits on the SPQ

BPRS Variables

BPRS: Item 17, evaluating emotional withdrawal

Abstract

Individuals with schizotypal traits have demonstrated sub-clinical symptoms of psychosis (e.g. perceptual disturbances, self-reported social functioning impairment, self-reported memory problems, and delusions). However, the evidence has been mixed regarding what impairments exist, particularly with regards to social functioning domains. As schizotypy is posited to reflect an underlying vulnerability for development of clinical levels of psychosis/risk conversion, individuals with these traits are an important group to study in order to identify these vulnerabilities. Research has indicated that current measures of social functioning (whether they are localized objective measures of verbal and non-verbal communication or global self-report of functioning) are missing some of the key insights into susceptibility of impairments. While localized and specific measures of social functioning are highly related to schizophrenia, the measures tell us little about vulnerability for individuals with schizotypy. This project explored how a global assessment of social functioning that includes a more expansive assessment of engagement through non-verbal and verbal communication (related to social functioning) could potentially tell us more about how and where individuals with schizotypy demonstrate social dysfunction. Contrary to prediction, schizotypy scores were unrelated to global functioning scores. As predicted, local measures of functioning showed extremely minimal relationships to schizotypy scores, confirming the proposed theory that these measures do not identify discernible differences in schizotypy scores. Implications for future research and the subjectiveobjective dysjunction with relation to schizotypy are considered below.

Social functioning in schizotypy: An exploration of communicative effectiveness through speech analysis and observer rated performance in a socially demanding task

Evidence indicates that individuals with psychotic disorders experience profound impairments in speech and social characteristics as compared to healthy controls (Gibson, Penn, Perkins, & Belger, 2010; Minor, Cohen, Weber, & Brown, 2011; McCleery et al., 2012). Individuals with sub-clinical symptoms of psychosis (e.g. hallucination, delusions, social dysfunction and withdrawal) – often referred as having "schizotypy" show mixed evidence for similar impairments, particularly in social domains. Of note, evidence of objective social impairments among those with schizotypal symptoms is relatively limited, while evidence for subjective impairments is relatively pronounced and consistent across studies. Thus, additional research is needed to classify these impairments. The present study used a sensitive experimental behavioral and global measure of social functioning and objective localized computer-based measures of speech and facial expression to evaluate the relationship between social functioning and schizotypy.

Schizotypy & Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia is a psychiatric diagnosis characterized by incapacitating symptoms of disturbed behavior and thoughts. The disease is prevalent in approximately 1% of the world's population and is responsible for 1-2% of national healthcare costs in industrial countries (Tsuang, Stone, & Faraone, 1999; Wu, Shi, Birnbaum, Hudson, & Kessler, 2005). These numbers do not account for the severe and vast costs to quality of life of patients and families.

To meet criteria for schizophrenia according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5.0 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), an individual must have two or more of the following symptoms occurring for one month (at least one of these must be 1-3): 1. hallucinations, 2. disorganized speech, 3. catatonic or grossly disorganized behavior. Additional criteria include social and occupational distress and disturbance lasting at least 6 months (including prodromal or symptoms of impairment similar to negative and positive clusters that have been present prior to the one month onset). Symptoms must not be a product of an identifiable medical condition or substance use disorder or better characterized by a different developmental disorder (APA, 2013; Tandon, Nasrallah, & Keshavan, 2009).

Schizophrenia is heterogeneous in type, intensity and duration of symptoms (e.g., Cohen & Docherty, 2005). For instance, individuals with schizophrenia may experience positive symptoms including hallucinations (false sensory perception) and delusions (false beliefs). They may also experience negative symptoms in tandem, including poverty of speech (alogia) and emotional deficits such as difficulty communicating emotion (alexithymia) or/and difficulty experiencing emotion (anhedonia) (Sutker & Adams 1993; APA, 2013). Differences in symptom expression such as the severity of symptoms, length of symptoms, comorbidity, amount and frequency of positive and negative symptoms, as well as response to intervention are vastly different depending on the individual (Sutker & Adams, 1993; Bruder et al., 2011; Kendler, Thackler & Walsch, 1996).

Schizophrenia is also characterized by profound social functioning deficits. Disruptions in social skills and ability to maintain social norms and relationships are inherent to the diagnosis. Difficulties in maintaining jobs, activities of daily living, communication, social anxiety and difficulties with interpersonal interactions, and objective quality of life and societal costs (such as the high cost of insurance and tax related hospital costs) are present in this population. Individuals with schizophrenia suffer from pervasive functional deficits related to

social interactions such as planning and keeping appointments, contacting appropriate people in daily and emergency circumstances, and appropriate dialogue with strangers and acquaintances. There has been little success in remediating these social dysfunctions (Addington & Addington, 2000; Bowie, Reichenberg, Patterson, Heaton, & Harvey, 2006; Simon, Wagner, & Vonderkoff, 1995).Therefore, it is important to look at individuals with schizotypy (discussed below), where vulnerability markers can be identified early and prior to clinical symptom development.

Schizotypy

Since the early inception of research and diagnosis of schizophrenia (Bleuler, 1911; Kraeplin, 1919), research suggested that individuals with schizophrenia experienced impairment prior to a psychotic break, and that many individuals show trait-like schizophrenia-like characteristics without ever meeting criteria for schizophrenia– defined as schizotypy. Vulnerability data show that approximately 10% of the population has schizotypy (with 10% of that population eventually converting to psychotic spectrum illness) (Meehl, 1990; Korfine & Lenzenwegger, 1995). Individuals with schizotypy experience disorganized, positive and negative symptoms such as sub-clinical hallucinations and delusions, and social withdrawal (Korfine & Lenzenwegger, 1995).

Studying schizotypal traits allows researchers to evaluate predisposition to schizophrenia and generate information about markers that may identify individuals who need early intervention and prevention to avoid transitions to psychotic spectrum illnesses. This research also results in identification of individuals who may have functional, social, and/or cognitive differences compared to healthy controls that may be impairing. Studying schizotypy also allows researchers to understand the schizophrenia-spectrum without having to control for confounding

variables present in schizophrenia samples, such as treatment compliance, treatment response, and duration of untreated psychosis (Minor & Cohen, 2012).

It is important to note three commonly used methods of identifying and defining schizotypy. The first involves classifying individuals at high genetic risk based on having at least one biological parent with diagnosable schizophrenia. Behavioral genetic studies have revealed approximately a 13% chance of developing the illness if one parent has the disorder, and approximately a 39% of developing schizophrenia if an individual has two parents with schizophrenia, and a 48% likelihood if a monozygotic twin has the disorder (O'Donoven, Williams, & Owen, 2003; Herson, 2011). Therefore, one method of identifying those with a predisposition to psychosis is screening individuals at ultra-high risk. These individuals are identified by showing one or more of three criteria that make their propensity for a psychotic break within one year extremely high. The three criteria include (1) attenuated positive symptoms or sub-clinic positive symptoms occurring for at least one week in the previous month or brief intermittent psychotic syndrome or brief psychotic symptoms that have occurred within the last three months, (2) and/or genetic risk and recent deterioration or (3) if the individual has a first degree relative with schizophrenia or schizotypal personality disorder, as well as a significant decrease in functioning lasting at least a month (Yung et al., 2006; Cannon et al., 2008; Addington et al., 2011).

Another broader method of identifying risk is the use of psychometric detection, which involves identifying individuals with schizotypy who report symptoms and behaviors comparable, but sub-clinical to psychotic spectrum disorder. They may not be at imminent risk of psychotic illness, but they show traits that are associated with psychotic illness. These populations may reveal more about what is happening for individuals earlier and also

information about those who may not transition to a complete psychotic illness. These individuals can be identified through self-report screenings. Psychometric questionnaires are advantageous because they allow large screenings of individuals with schizotypy traits. They are beneficial due to their efficiency and lend themselves nicely to a dimensional approach to assessment. A recent meta-analysis identified some of the advantages of dimensional measures of psychopathology. These screening measures are more inclusive as they show more people with propensity to illness. The measures do this by capturing higher sample sizes with a more expansive screening of symptoms that are not achievable with stricter guidelines about ultra-high risk. Additionally, broader measures have increased validity (>35%) and reliability (15%) compared to discrete or categorical measures of risk (Markon, Chmielewski, & Miller, 2011). Therefore, by using these measures, identification is expanded to show more subtle symptoms that are associated with psychotic illness and with more confidence in the reliability and validity of these results.

Like schizophrenia, it is widely recognized that the schizotypy construct is heterogeneous in its symptom presentation and may be best understood from continuum models of its dominant symptom clusters of positive, negative, and disorganized symptoms (Kerns, 2006). While these symptom cluster definitions are not without some controversy, there is a large body of empirical evidence that supports this three factor model (Chapman & Chapman, 1983; Korfine & Lenzenwegger, 1995). Positive schizotypal traits are typically defined in terms of perceptual disturbances, while negative schizotypal traits involve aspects related to social anhedonia (e.g., social withdrawal, apathy, lack of enjoyment) and social cognition deficits (e.g., difficulty appraising positive emotion and reduced emotional expression). Disorganization schizotypal traits include disinhibit ion, nonlinear speech and thoughts (Mata et al., 2003). Given continuum

models of pathology towards schizophrenia, in relation to schizotypy traits and putative underlying mechanisms, schizotypy has important clinical implications as it is linked to both affective and behavioral dysfunction that impairs overall quality of life (Cohen, Auster, MacCauley, & McGovern, 2014). This makes studying this group imperative in order to identify features that may help to prevent a transition to psychosis which would result in the costs of illness and quality of life related to schizophrenia.

Additionally, schizotypy has been associated with profound deficits in social impairments, at least per self-reported measures (Cohen & Davis, 2009) as well as greater propensity toward substance use (Nunn, Rizza & Peters, 2001; Esterberg, Goulding, MClure-Tone, & Compton, 2009), and a greater incidence of mood disorders and social adjustments over a ten year period compared to healthy controls and matched peers (Kwapil, Gross, Silvia, & Barrantes-Videl, 2013). However, there is something incongruent in the results of assessment research in schizotypy. It is evident that the way we evaluate symptoms, whether that be through computerized, self-report, or behavioral measurement reveal different manifestations of impairment.

The Subjective-Objective Dysjunction in Schizotypy

There is an interesting, and seemingly paradoxical, finding within schizotypy that warrants potential importance to the study of vulnerability markers in psychosis proneness. This is particularly interesting in the study of psychometric schizotypy most commonly based on college students without clinically significant symptoms. The subjective-objective dysjunction involves findings that schizotypal individuals self-report pathology that, in certain domains of functioning, is comparable to individuals with chronic schizophrenia. However, objective functioning abnormalities are less pronounced. There is minimal research to support this

dysjunction across social functioning, although this may be a good place to start investigating the where and when with regards to the differences discussed above. However, before discussing the potential benefits of using social functioning as an example and how to measure this, the next section will review what we already know from the literature regarding this dysjunction. The below review will demonstrate what the literature shows us about this finding that local objective measurement of schizotypy reveal null findings that are unexpected due to both the relationship to higher-risk and psychotic individuals, and the self-reported differences.

Subjective-objective dysjunction: Quality of life. Individuals with psychometric schizotypy report differences in quality of life often on the order of two standard deviations lower than healthy controls (Cohen & Davis, 2009). Objective differences in quality of life (QOL) in terms of social, health, legal, social support and capacity, and security experiences are well documented for individuals with schizophrenia (Fervaha, Agid, Takeuchi, Foussias, & Remington, 2013; Margariti, Ploumpidid, Economou, Christodolou, & Remmington, 2014). Interestingly, individuals with schizotypy report subjective accounts comparable to chronic outpatients even though their objective functioning in these domains are not significantly different than their healthy matched peers (Cohen, Morrison, & Callaway, 2013). While the domains above are discrepant for individuals with schizotypy, correlations between schizotypy and quality of life are much larger for subjective reports and perceptions of QOL. These differences are not reflected in objective differences, such as amount of social support, safety in living or legal problems (Cohen & Davis, 2009; Cohen et al., 2014). In summary, individuals with schizotypy report experiences comparable to chronic outpatients, yet their objective functioning is comparable to individuals not on the psychotic spectrum.

Subjective-objective dysjunction: Emotional functioning. Laboratory studies with individuals with schizotypy show abnormalities in emotional expressivity across multiple domains. Individuals with schizotypy report lower levels of pleasurable experience when exposed to positive, neutral, and negative stimuli than both healthy matched peers and chronic patients with serious mental illness (Cohen, Callaway, Larsen, & Strauss, 2012). Additional studies (>10) show similar pathological levels of anhedonia (inability to experience pleasure) when exposed to pleasurable incentives such as food, scenery, and social interactions (Fitzgibbons & Simons, 1992; Fiorito & Simons, 1994; Ferguson & Katkin, 1996; Gooding, Davidson, Putnam, & Tallent, 2002; Mathews & Barch, 2010; Najolia, Cohen, & Minor, 2010; Cohen et al., 2012). Yet, objective measures of emotional functioning such as startle response (Gooding et al., 2002) and skin conductance (Fitzgibbons & Simons, 1992) do not show the same group differences. For example, a study in 2002 of approximately 36 participants with high levels of social anhedonia identified through a psychometric measure used to identify psychosis proneness (Chapman Psychosis-Proneness Scales) were compared to a group of approximately 40 healthy control participants on physiological evaluation of startle response when exposed to positive, negative or neutral pictures. There were no significant differences found between the control and socially anhedonic group (Gooding et al., 2002). Similarly, a study examining individuals with psychosis proneness and healthy controls revealed no differences in skin conductance, an objective measure of sweat gland response (Fitzgibbons & Simons, 1992). Skin conductance differences are seen in patients with schizophrenia with results showing differences in fluctuations of sweat response, differences in habituation, and higher rates of sweat response, especially when exposed to emotional stimuli (Gruzelier Seymour, Wilson, Jolley, & Hirsch, 1988; Cooklin, Sturgeoin, & Leff, 1983). The results of these local objective measures show no

differences for individuals with schizotypy. These results further demonstrate the dysjunction across subjective and objective experiences for individuals with schizotypy.

Subjective-objective dysjunction: Olfaction. A similar phenomenon occurs for individuals with schizotypy with regards to olfactory, or smell identification. Dating back to the 1970s, olfaction deficits have been a recognized identifying feature of schizophrenia (Campbell & Gregson, 1972). Since then research has demonstrated olfactory dysfunction in schizophrenia including odor detection (Gross-Isseroff et al., 1994; Serby, Larson, & Kalkstein, 1990) and odor memory (Campbell and Gregson, 1972). Studies have also found that odor discrimination is deficit for individuals with schizophrenia (Sreenivasan, Abraham, & Verghese, 1987). Individuals who are at ultra-high risk for schizophrenia, as well as those who eventually transition to psychosis also show some of these deficits (Moberg et al., 2003). Therefore, this is an important feature to look out for amongst all individuals with schizotypy in order to identify comparable impairment and potential early identification. However, individuals with psychometric schizotypy show less objective identifiable differences in smell identification (Kamath & Bedwell, 2008; Cohen, Brown, & Auster, 2012; Auster, Cohen, Callaway, & Brown, 2014). However, a recent study revealed a dysjunction with subjective reports of identification of pleasurable stimuli (i.e. smell) among individuals with schizotypy that are comparable to patients with serious mental illness and significantly discrepant from matched peers (Auster et al., 2014). This reveals another potential dysjunction in subjective compared to objective differences among those with schizotypy.

Social Functioning: An Important Area of Research in Schizotypy

Despite social functioning being important in schizophrenia, it is presently unclear in what ways it is important in schizotypy. As noted above, there is evidence that social functioning

is impaired in schizotypy when evaluated using self-reported measures (Cohen & Davis, 2009; Cohen et al., 2014). The evidence is more complicated when measured using objective means. Social functioning is a complicated and multidimensional construct – manifesting across subjective, behavioral, and objective domains (Sayler & Mueser, 2001; Brackett, Rivers, Shiffman, Lerner, & Salovey, 2006; Eisenberg, Spinard & Morris, 2002). Importantly, a study with 228 participants characterized at different levels of risk (e.g. some having some schizotypy traits and others with high genetic susceptibility to schizophrenia) revealed that the most salient predictor of risk of transition to psychosis was social deterioration. In this study, participants who showed more odd behavior and social withdrawal were more likely to transition to psychotic symptoms than those who revealed sub-clinical psychotic symptoms (Miller et al., 2002). Therefore, it is necessary to consider social functioning as a potential predictor of risk for illness among individuals with schizotypy. The next sections will focus on how social functioning is normal across many objectively-defined domains of social functioning, and is abnormal in others. Of note, the first part of this section focuses on computer-based objective measures of communication, acoustic, facial and lexical analysis of speech in schizotypy. These measures tap basic components of social functioning - "local" components as they will be referred to later in the introduction. Research has shown that these measures are abnormal in patients with schizophrenia (Brozgold et al., 1998; Bediou et al., 2007; McClure et al. 2007).

Objective Measures: Acoustic Analysis of Speech

Physical properties of speech, such as vibration, sound, ultrasound, and infrasound (Slaney & Naylor, 2011) are important to understanding nonverbal aspects of communication (and therefore social functioning) and can be measured using acoustic analysis. Objective measures of acoustics include measuring variables such as silence, pauses, utterances, and range. Acoustic

analysis of speech has been used to understand social functioning in patients with schizophrenia and schizotypy. For example, individuals with schizophrenia reveal blunted expression and lack of word use, which have characterized some of the social symptoms and dysfunction for these individuals (Argyle, 1976; Hooker & Park, 2002; Brackett et al., 2006). In a recent study, participants with psychometric schizotypy were compared to matched healthy control on speech production using prosodic analysis. Little to no group differences was found suggesting the same kind of speech production deficits found in schizophrenia (Cohen & Hong, 2011). Similarly, a study in 2012 with approximately 40 individuals with psychometric schizotypy and matched controls revealed no group differences in speech production when evaluated in different cognitive load conditions. Individuals with schizotypy showed the same decrease in speech production as healthy controls when faced with an increasingly difficult simultaneous or a dual cognitive task (Cohen et al., 2012). This further demonstrates the lack of evidence for local objective differences in speech communication for individuals with schizotypy compared to healthy controls.

Objective measures: Facial analysis. Facial expression research, which has been studied in depth by researchers such as Paul Ekman and Charles Darwin, is based on the notion that the movement of facial muscles conveys non-verbal emotional state and expression (Ekman, 1970; Fridland, 1994). Measurement of facial expression includes computerized measurement of facial movement and intensity of this expression through head and facial muscle movement. For example, facial expression of emotion is objectively different for individuals with schizophrenia (Gabay, Kempton, & Mehta., 2014). Some of the deficits in facial expression among individuals with schizophrenia include reduced movement, expressivity, and response to emotional stimuli (Earnst et al., 1996; Kohler et al., 2003). However, these data indicate null findings for

individuals with psychometric schizotypy (Cohen et al., 2012). A recent laboratory study with 37 participants with psychometrically defined schizotypy and matched controls (33) showed that individuals with schizotypy did not reveal significantly abnormal or different movement or expressivity than healthy controls. They did not differ from healthy controls in head or mouth movement or intensity of expression to positive or negative images. This is further evidence that this population does not show these local objective differences compared to patients with schizophrenia (Cohen, Morrison, & Callaway, 2013).

Objective measures: Lexical analysis. An additional type of objective analysis of communication is through lexical analysis of speech. Lexical analysis examines properties of speech such as word content and valence (use of positive, negative, and neutral words). Computerized lexical analysis evaluates speech based on analysis of individual word stems using predefined dictionaries. Lexical analysis is related to social functioning. Research has demonstrated that lack of words and specific word choice (i.e. more negative and positive words) is related to depression and social communication disturbance as well as social functioning (Tauscik & Pennebaker, 2010; Pennebaker, Chung, Ireland, Gonzales, & Boothe, 2007). Additionally, studies with patients with schizophrenia reveal direct relationships between social dysfunction and abnormal expression of positive emotion (measured by lexical analysis; Cohen, St. Hilaire, Akra, & Docherty, 2009). There is very limited information regarding lexical analysis and social functioning in schizotypy. However, a recent study with individuals with schizotypy and matched controls had participants verbalize their thoughts and feelings regarding images that were categorized as pleasant, unpleasant, and neutral. In this study, there was no difference in the production of speech amount or content when looking at unpleasant stimuli. Yet, there was some evidence for reduced speech production using positive words when discussing a pleasant image.

Participants with schizotypy used fewer positively valence words when observing positively valenced stimuli than healthy controls. (Najolia, Cohen & Minor, 2011). These results demonstrate the need for further evidence of what the differences mean in speech among individuals with schizotypy.

Objective Measures: Behavioral-based ratings of social functioning

Interestingly, a recent study found evidence of social functioning abnormalities using objective-based behavioral measures of social functioning. Gibson et al. (2010) evaluated individuals with schizotypy and found significant impairments in the domains of affect, behavior, and social-interpersonal communication through behavioral measures. The variations between these domains revealed some of the specific differences between matched peers and those with schizotypy, including problems demonstrating appropriate affect through facial expression and tone, body language, behavior, and fluent speech when they are observed in behavioral measures. Please see Table 1 for different variables that were used in that study and were adapted for the present study to define social functioning.

Notably, social function was measured during a role-play task where participants were asked to communicate why they should be chosen for a reality show (High-Risk Social Challenge Task). During this task, individuals are asked to discuss why they should be chosen for a socially desirable television project (Gibson et al., 2010). There are a number of advantages of using this type of measure including attainment of both audio and visual data for individuals who are being asked to demonstrate their subjective positive qualities to make them competitive for winning a coveted job. This allows observers to rate participants' ability to convey these qualities, participant belief regarding their ability to actually attain the job, and basic social norms in communicating these abilities.

Another study of social functioning using behavioral measures in schizotypy also warrants mention. Collins, Blanchard and Biondo (2005) found differences in social functioning (i.e. engagement, constricted affect when communicating) in a sample of 170, 18–19-year-olds (85 social anhedonics, 85 controls). This study used a measure (i.e.,The Schizoidia Scale; Kosson, Byrnes & Park, 1999; Collins et al., 2005) which contains items related to schizotypy including constricted affect and detachment (defined as deficit in engagement). Ratings of frequency and severity of these items were observed in a single 30 minute videotaped session of a portion of a clinical interview (SCID-IV Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I Disorders, Patient Edition-Research Version; First et al., 1996). The significant findings of this study were that aspects of social functioning were observed for individuals with high social anhedonia compared to healthy controls through behavioral ratings. The aspects of interpersonal functioning that were observed to be different than controls included constricted facial affect, lack of verbal and non-verbal expression and physical anergia.

Explaining the Variability in Findings of Objective Social Functioning Abnormalities in Schizotypy: Local and Global Measurement

Studies of social functioning in schizotypy using objective methods have thus far focused on relatively local measures (e.g. facial analysis, Cohen et al., 2013; acoustic analysis, Cohen et al., 2012; neurocognition, Chun et al., 2013) and on relatively subjective global measures (e.g. self-report; Cohen & Davis, 2009; Chun et al., 2013; Cohen et al., 2014). The aforementioned studies (Gibson et al., 2010; Collins et al., 2005) employed behavioral ratings of more global social functioning. Viewed through this distinction, localized objective measures may not be abnormal in schizotypy whereas global objective measures may be. Considering the differences between these types of measures may help disentangle what, if any, social functioning impairments actually occur in schizotypy. Global behavioral measures may be a way to capture a missing piece of objective and subjective measures of social functioning. However, there has been minimal research to date regarding behavioral measurement in schizotypy. This study examined local objective measures as well as global objective behavioral measures in schizotypy.

What is the Missing Piece: Local versus Global?

Literature has demonstrated that detachment or emotional withdrawal is greater among individuals with schizophrenia and trauma histories (Le Lievre, Schweitzer, & Barnard 2011; Vogel et al. 2013). While little has been studied to highlight this potential symptom of schizotypy, the results of poor interpersonal communication in observer rated studies suggest this may be an ingredient to understand the difference in subjective and objective social functioning impairment in this population. Additionally, the Brief Psychotic Rating Scale (BPRS; Lukoff, Neuchterlein, & Ventura, 1986) defines a symptom called emotional withdrawal as an "invisible barrier" between interviewer and patient that causes detachment and inability to relate. This may be the reason we see subjective differences among individuals with schizotypy that are not captured by objective measures (which lack this piece of observer-rated interpersonal effectiveness) that can be conveyed through observed symptoms in a behavioral measure. The component of social observation and ratings in these symptoms may be essential to understanding differences between those with high schizotypy traits and healthier individuals. Therefore, this study proposed that emotional withdrawal (which can be measured by the BPRS) could potentially mediate the relationship between social functioning and schizophrenia, helping to explain the relationship between these variables, and also explaining a missing piece in

objective computerized measures of language and affect with regards to when/where this relationship is driven.

In considering how local and global objective measures of social functioning may relate to this "invisible barrier", it is important to discuss one of the elements of interpersonal communication evaluated in the Gibson et al. (2010) task involving engagement and specifically, emotional withdrawal. Emotional withdrawal is defined as the "lack of ability to connect" or "mental assertiveness" (Herman, 1992). Global measures of behavior and self-reported social dysfunction demonstrate social-interpersonal & communication differences in schizotypy (Collins et al., 2005; Gibson et al., 2010; Cohen et al., 2014). However, localized measures of social dysfunction, which are limited to specific deficits in speech production and facial expression, do not reveal social functioning differences from healthy controls (Cohen et al., 2012; Cohen et al., 2012). It is possible that global ratings of social functioning in schizotypy are disrupted by an over-arching, global or impressionistic factor that is abnormal, such as emotional connection. Insofar as local measures are focused on specific facets of social functioning that are not directly affected or biased by these global factors, they may be missing the component of social functioning that is impaired in schizotypy. To disentangle this issue, it was necessary to simultaneously evaluate local and global features of speech.

Present Study

This project examined the relationship between social functioning, using a validated observer rated role-play task, and local and global objective measures of functioning. The role play-task used in this study (Gibson et al., 2010) involves a stressful behavioral task that requires social communication. Replicating that the relationship between social functioning and schizotypy is not captured through local objective measures, potentially would help to isolate

whether there was a difference in assessment of functioning that is captured by global behavioral measures or rater observed effectiveness of social functioning. Additionally, I planned to explore whether emotional withdrawal is a mediating factor between social functioning and schizotypy, and potentially creates the "invisible barrier" that exists between an observer and an individual with schizotypy traits. I believed this barrier may be the piece that explained why local objective measures and global behavioral measures indicate different results (i.e. no differences in social functioning assessed through local measures compared to robust differences found in global measurement).

Aims

In this project my aims were to evaluate social functioning in schizotypy using a behavioral task. I planned to explore social functioning through local objective analysis of speech and facial analysis, as well as global interpersonal ratings of domains of social functioning (including affect, behavioral expression and social interpersonal domains).

Aim 1. My initial aim was to replicate and extend prior research demonstrating that there are social impairments in schizotypy. The above introduction demonstrated that current measures of social dysfunction may not be inclusive enough to classify or discern these dysfunctions. By assessing this through a global assessment of functioning, where participants are asked to participate in an engaging speaking task, it was possible to replicate the fact the social functioning is impaired for individuals on the schizophrenia spectrum and extend this to explore whether impairments occur with increasing schizotypy traits.

Aim 2. My second aim was to replicate and extend research demonstrating that social differences are NOT captured by local objective measures of social functioning. Interestingly, local objective impairments that are often characteristic of individuals with schizophrenia are

rarely identified for individuals with schizotypy. It is possible that this is a problem of measurement and demonstrates that this is not the right way to identify impairment in this population. Identifying that local objective measures such as facial expression, acoustic analysis, and facial movement may NOT reveal dysfunction couldguide research in new directions of identifying how social impairments impact individuals with schizotypy traits.

Aim 3. My initial exploratory aim was to look at how a symptom of social dysfunction that has been described as a barrier or wall, helps to explain the link between schizotypy traits and social functioning. I planned to evaluate how emotional withdrawal potentially mediates the relationship between social functioning on a global level and psychometric schizotypy.

Importance of This Topic

The importance of studying the nuances of symptoms across the schizophrenia spectrum is well-documented. In this project specifically, taking a dimensional approach (looking at schizotypy traits as they increase) allows for a more sophisticated and expansive investigation of potential risk markers. Additionally, comprehensive global behavioral evaluation of individuals may indicate social functioning differences (seen through observer ratings) that show communication is harder or less effective for individuals with schizotypy. This variance may not be captured through local, objective measures. Additionally, this is the first project, to our knowledge, that proposed to examine how emotional withdrawal contributes to social functioning deficits in schizotypy. Differences in social functioning related to emotional withdrawal may indicate a deficit or identifiable difference that may be too subtle to be detected by local, objective ratings. It is also the first study to our knowledge to compare a global measure of functioning to local measures of functioning in a dimensional sample examining psychometric schizotypy. Expanding assessment techniques to identify these differences in social functioning

may contribute to a better understanding of when/where social functioning becomes a problem for individuals with schizotypy traits.

Method

Participants

Fifty seven adults were recruited from a university setting, where students were able to obtain course credit for their participation. A dimensional approach was used to define schizotypy. Participants were asked to read and sign an informed consent form (see Appendix A). Participants answered a number of online surveys and computerized tasks including a speaking task that was audiotaped as discussed below. There was no inclusion or exclusion based on gender or racial/ethnic origin. During the testing session, a confidential code was assigned to each participant. Participants were tested by trained undergraduate research assistants and debriefed at study's end. This study was approved by the Louisiana State University Human Subject Review Board.

Measures

Schizotypy. The Brief-Revised Version of the Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ-BR; Cohen et al., 2010; Callaway et al., 2014;) is made up of 32 items across seven domains of schizotypy (Magical Thinking, Unusual Perceptions, Ideas of References/Suspiciousness, Social Anxiety, No Close Friends/Constricted Affect, Eccentric Behavior, and Odd Speech). It was created using the full Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ; Raine, 1991), a widely implemented measure for evaluating psychometrically defined schizotypy (Stefanis, Smyrnis, Avramopoulos & Stefanis, 2004;Callaway et al., 2014; Cohen et al., 2010). The SPQ-BR was chosen in this study because of its efficiency and conciseness and the SPQ-BR has resulted in fewer incomplete responses than the full SPQ (Cohen et al., 2010).

The SPQ-BR has a three factor superordinate structure consisting of positive (Magical Thinking, Unusual Perceptions, Ideas of References/Suspiciousness), negative (Social Anxiety, No Close Friends/Constricted Affect), and disorganized (Eccentric Behavior, Odd Speech) traits. In this study, a five-point Likert format was used for each question. Research on the SPQ has demonstrated high internal reliability (0.91), test-retest reliability (0.82), convergent validity (0.59 to 0.81), discriminant validity, and criterion validity (0.63, 0.68), (Raine, 1991; Wurthrich & Bates, 2005; Callaway et al., 2014). A study in 2005 revealed that the presence of distress and/or effects on role functioning helps to distinguish risk and distress/impairment of sub-clinical schizophrenia symptoms (Loewy, 2005). Therefore, the initial validation of the addition of distress to the SPQ surveyed over 600 undergraduate students at LSU found that each factor of the SPQ (positive, negative, and disorganization experience) and the distress subscales were related to lower satisfaction in quality of life across multiple domains including school, transportation, home life, recreational activities, sleep (Cohen, 2014). The addition of these factors to this scale allowed for greater exploration of distress over symptoms in this study.

Global measure of social functioning. The *High-Risk Social Challenge Task* (HiSoc; Gibson et al., 2010) is an experimental test of social skills where participants are video and audiotaped while being asked to speak for a 45 second mock audition to be a part of a new reality show. The task is rated on a five point Likert scale for 16 items (See Table 14 & Appendix B & C). Raters evaluate scores on Affect, Odd Behavior and Language, and Social-Interpersonal domains by evaluating behavior such as excessive or diminished expressivity of movement, language and speech, as well as content and style of speech and overall interviewer impression. All three of these factors have demonstrated high correlations with the total global social functioning score seen through factor analysis. Individuals with genetic high-risk for

psychosis reveal moderate to high effect size differences compared to healthy controls across these three domains of social functioning as well as global social functioning (.49-1.04) measured in this task (Gibson et al., 2010). As the first validated behavioral measure of social functioning in a high-risk sample, this task is a good standard of social functioning to use in comparable samples of individuals Additionally, the largest effect size difference (1.04) in social functioning for genetically high-risk individuals was found in the domain of social-interpersonal functioning. As described above, I proposed this was the theoretical underpinning of social functioning differences in schizotypy, which may not be captured in local objective measures that are too specific. Three raters, blind to SPQ-BR scores, evaluated scores in each item and domain and gave a global score of social functioning. The writer of this document trained these three raters by collaboratively going through the scoring and rating manual (Gibson, 2009). Scoring examples were discussed to make sure that each rater understood each of the concepts and scoring protocol. Each rater used the manual consistently while rating each item and then emailed the writer with any scoring questions. Averages of the scores for each item (for each participant) were calculated (computed from the ratings from all three raters) and used in these analyses. No individual scores on the items were more than two standard deviations from any other rater's scores.

Local Objective Measures of Social Functioning

Speech analysis. The *Computerized Assessment of Affect from Natural Speech Protocol (CANS;* Cohen, Alpert, Nienow, & Docherty, 2008; Cohen, Reshaw, Mitchell, Kim, 2015) is a sensitive computer program that detects speech variables that relay normal and abnormal speech such as pause length, prosody (i.e., inflection), and intensity of speech volume. The CANS has shown temporal stability across acoustic measures and moderate stability across prosodic measures

during repeated administrations, demonstrating overall statistically significant reliability (Cohen & Hong, 2009). This computes utterances (vocal statements) separately at a rate of 150 milliseconds and were applied to each social role play speech sample of 45 seconds each. The CANS protocol is used with Pratt (Boersma & Weenink, 2013), a program used to organize frame by frame analysis of speech samples converted to frequency values, in order to collectively show range and variability of utterances. Acoustic analysis variables used were based on a recent factor analysis (Cohen, Renshaw, Mitchell, & Kim, 2015) revealing the 6 variables of vocal expression with the most construct validity and least redundancy within the CANS software (*Pause. Mean:* Average amount of compilations of 50 milliseconds of silence; F0.SD.Local: Standard deviation of frequency associated with pitch; F0.Perturbation: Frequency associated with jitteriness; F1.SD.Local: Standard deviation of the frequency associated with articulation of words (important for vowel expression); F2.SD.Local: Standard deviation of frequency associated with tongue articulation (back and forth tongue movement), also important for vowel expression; Intensity.SD.Global: Standard deviation of volume variability; Intensity. *Perturbation*: Volume of jitteriness through variability in vocal short frames of speech).

The Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (LIWC) (Pennebaker, Francis & Booth, 2001) is used to assess content of speech. The LIWC is a measure of lexical analysis software that utilizes transcribed speech samples by matching to a comprehensive dictionary of more than 2,200 words. This analysis determines the frequency of specific word usage which may be related to the variables of communicative social functioning, such as ease of communication, normative usage of positive language and pronouns, appropriate negative and positive appraisal, and the appropriate use of speech to be able to answer the questions being asked by the task. LIWC generates a frequency count of occurrences of target words in the category being evaluated.

Computed scores for positive and negative variables of the LIWC are used frequently for examining linguistic speech samples to determine frequency and amount of positive emotion (using the words: love, nice, sweet) and negative emotion (hurt, ugly, nasty) (Tauszik & Pennebacker, 2010). Positive and negative variables on the LIWC demonstrate high internal reliability (α 's >.89; Pennebaker, 2007) These variables also been used to look at differences in emotion words in samples of individuals with schizophrenia and schizotypy (Cohen & Docherty, 2005; Cohen, Beck, Najolia & Brown, 2011). The computed variable of certainty was of interest in these data analyses because it reflects amount and frequency of words used to express confidence (always, absolute, complete, and never). The certainty variable on the LIWC has also demonstrated high internal reliability ($\alpha = .85$; Pennebaker, 2007). Previous research has indicated that the use of certainty language is related to positive outcomes in getting a point across assertively. For example, Corley & Wediking (2014) examined analysis of speech samples and found that supreme court decisions are accepted more positively when there are higher levels of certainty presented in decision. Additionally, Herringer (2014) found that individuals who used more certainty language also had higher levels of self-reported well being, and Guerini, Pepe, & Lepri (2012) found that scientific abstracts were more likely to be cited if certainty language was used. These data demonstrate a relationship between success in interpersonally related tasks, social functioning, well-being, and personal success with the use of certainty in language. This project examined social functioning through a measure that was created assuming that higher-functioning is related to assertive, confident and effortful language, affect and behavior. The use of certainty in a local measure is an interesting and seemingly related variable to demonstrate social functioning.

Facial analysis. The *FaceReader Version 4.0* (Noldus Information Technology, 2010) is a program used to measure facial expression. This automated and commercially available technology produces algorithms based on facial images captured on video (frame-by frame) to detect seven emotional states (happy, sad, angry, surprised, neutral and disgusted). FaceReader captures movement from eye gazes and head movements to produce percentages of emotional valence frame by frame (Noldus Information Technology, 2010; Cohen et al., 2013). Reliability analyses of expressions have been found to be highly stable (r's between .60-.89) The total amount of time participants display sad, angry, scared, and disgusted expressions are reported. This resulted in total scores of positive, negative, and neutral categories based on a standard deviation for each category (measured by facial movement variability-eye, head and mouth movement).

Measure of emotional withdrawal at the global level of social functioning. *Expanded Brief Psychiatric Rating Scales* (BPRS; Lukoff, Neuchterlein & Ventura, 1986). The BPRS is a 24-item symptom rating scale that evaluates frequency and intensity of psychiatric symptoms on a scale of 1-7 (very mild-extremely severe). For this study, only item 17, which measures emotional withdrawal was assessed. The item reads, "Deficiency in patient's ability to relate emotionally during interview situation." Three different raters were trained to evaluate and score this item using the 1-7 scale. Reliability for individual items range from .63-.83, with inter-rater reliability among raters between .85-.95 (Mueser, Curran, & McHugo, 1997; Ligon & Thyman, 2000). The writer of this document went through the scoring and rating of item 17, and did sample ratings to determine whether the raters understood the concept and scoring. Each rater used the BPRS manual consistently while rating the item and then emailed the writer with any scoring questions. An average of the score of the item was calculated for each individual

(computed from the ratings from all three raters) and used in these analyses. No individual scores on the items were more than two standard deviations from any other raters scores.

Measure of psychopathology. *Brief Symptom Inventory* (BSI; Derogatos & Mellisaratos, 1983). The BSI is a brief self-report scale of psychological symptoms. The rating scale is 53-items designed to assess psychological symptoms in a number of settings (outpatient and inpatient medical settings, general screening for psychiatric symptoms). Nine primary symptom dimensions and 3 subscales of general distress and severity reflect reliable and valid factors of mental health clusters using the BSI (Chronbach alpha's .80-.90). In this study, the subscales of depression, anxiety and general severity index were of interest due to the relationship between these mental health symptoms and schizotypy.

Hypotheses & Data Analyses

Statistical analyses for this project were carried out in four parts. First, preliminary analyses were tested for significant relationships between demographic characteristics (sex, ethnicity, years of education, and age) and dependent variables of interest (HiSoc scores, LIWC, CANS, Facial Expression; Emotional Withdrawal) using independent-sample t-tests and correlations (age). Due to the number of DV's of interest in this study, bonferonni family wise adjustments were made to control for these multiple comparisons. Field (2009) indicates that this is a conservative method to control for error due to multiple comparisons, and that the definition of "family" or groupings can be "loosely defined" as long as they are consistent across variables. In these data, groups of local and global measures (e.g., global [HiSOC] & local functioning [all acoustic variables]) are grouped together. The alpha level was divided and adjusted by the number of comparisons for each group. Each table reflects a correction for all significant values.

Analyses had statistical significance set at $\alpha < .05$ (two-tailed) and data were reviewed for violations of normality and skew (and corrected if necessary). Reliability of the behavioral measure (HiSoc) was examined through consistency in the factor scores as indicated by Gibson et al. (2010). In all analyses, outliers (> 3 SDs) were identified and transformed to the minimum/maximum score that is within 3 SDs of the mean. Secondly, bivariate correlations were computed to determine whether there were relationships between social functioning (measured by the HiSoc) and schizotypy scores. Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to compute variables that are on an interval scale. Thirdly, bivariate correlations were computed to measure whether local objective measures (acoustic analysis, lexical analysis, and facial expression) are related to schizotypy scores. Lastly, a mediation analysis was proposed to be employed to examine whether emotional withdrawal explains the relationship between social functioning (measured by the HiSoc) and schizotypy scores using steps outlined by Baron and Kenny (1986).

Power Analysis

In order to obtain an upper-boundary for required sample size, power analyses were completed for the primary experimental hypotheses. Power analyses conducted for the primary hypotheses using G*Power software 3.1.2 (G*Power, 2010) indicated that a sample size of 55 (57 individuals were included in these analyses) was needed to observe a moderate effect size (linear hierarchical regression (fixed model): effect size *Cohen's D* =.4-.7, α = 0.05, β = 0.80, two-tailed). A standard of .4 is considered a moderate effect size using *Cohen's D* (Cohen & Cohen, 1983

Results

Descriptive data is presented in Table 1. Means and ranges across the sample were reviewed on all outcome measures -- see Table 2 for data including ranges for the global functioning measure (HiSoc) and schizotypy measure (SPQ). Variables were screened for normality. All variables fell within ranges of acceptability for skewness(+/-3) and kurtosis (i.e., <5; Curran, West, & Finch, 1996). Outliers were constrained to +/- 2 interquartile ranges around the median of each variable. Two subjects were determined to be outliers with significantly low scores outside this range on the global social functioning measure, HiSoc (with overall scores below 31, respectively 25 and 30). These outliers were further investigated for significant differences across outcome variables; a concern in that their test scores may be invalid due to lack of effort. However, it should be noted that these subjects did not have significantly lower scores in other outcome measures such as SPQ or BSIas identified through t-test evaluation of mean differences between groups. This indicates that they were not functioning significantly lower in psychopathology or cognitive ability than the rest of the sample. Based upon these results, the aforementioned data were included in the analyses. Rerunning the analyses without these two subjects did not change the results.

Table 1 Demographic Data (N = 57)

	Percent	Frequency
		<u>(n)</u>
Sex (Female)	72	41
Ethnicity		
Caucasian	74	42
African-American	11	6
Hispanic	1	1
Asian American	5	3
Other	9	5
Mean Age (years)	20.1	5.32 (SD)
17. D 111		1 1 1

Note. Percent rounded to the nearest whole number

See Table 2 for ranges, means and standard deviations for participants on measures of global functioning (HiSoc) and schizotypy scores (SPQ). The present study achieved excellent levels of internal consistency in the current sample on the overall score on the HiSoc ($\alpha = .95$). All individual items in this measure demonstrated high levels of internal consistency (α 's ranged from .67-.94). This was comparable to the internal consistency found for this measure in Gibson (2009) which was $\alpha = .93$.

Table 2Descriptive (Means, Ranges) for Global and Schizotypy Measure (HiSoc and SPQ)

	Ν	Min	Max	Mean	SD
HiSocO	57	25	78	54.86	8.63
SPQBR	57	2	25	12.65	5.31

The groups differed significantly between pause (an acoustic variable) and gender (i.e., males had significantly more pauses than females; see Table 3). All data computed for acoustic analysis were controlled for gender, and scores that changed in significance value after controlling for gender are noted throughout. There were no significant group differences in ethnicity. Correlations between age and outcome measures (local and global functioning measures and measures of schizotypy traits) showed no significant differences, but are not represented for brevity.

Variable	Male (<i>N</i> = 19)	Female $(N = 42)$	t	р
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		
Acoustic Variables				
Pause	1404.61 (547.69)	914.26 (308)	2.51	.01**
F0.SDLocal	2.31 (1.77)	2.58 (1.21)	69	.49
F0.Pert	10(1.77)	.09 (.03)	1.30	.23
F1.SD.Local	4.27(1.56)	4.09 (1.59)	.44	.66
F2.SD.Local	4.60 (1.09)	4.30 (1.59)	.54	.61
Intensity	10.47 (2.28)	9.54 (3.04)	1.18	.93
Intensity. Pert	.65 (.11)	.64 (.14)	.50	.62
Facial Expression				
Posfac	.26 (1.72)	.30 (.16)	84	.41
Neutfac	.14 (.09)	.15 (.12)	39	.70
Negfac	.22 (.11)	.20 (.11)	.43	.91
LIWC				
LexPos	.47 (.77)	.49 (.63)	12	.90
LegNeg	.23 (.69)	.50 (1.20)	91	.37
Certainty	2.3 (1.9)	2.53 (1.98)	39	.54
HiSoc				
Overall	55.73 (8.68)	54.41 (8.77)	.55	.59
Affect	14.00 (2.8)	14.6 (2.31)	80	.42
Social-Int	14.84 (2.56)	14.24 (3.00)	81	.42
Beh/Lang	15.87 (2.36)	15.57 (2.30)	.46	.65
SPQ * <i>p</i> < .05 , ** <i>p</i> <.01	13.94 (6.07)	12.10 (5.43)	1.13	.29

Table 3T-Tests for Gender and Clinical Variables for Participants
Hypothesis 1. Schizotypy scores would be positively related to global assessment of social functioning. See Table 4 for correlations between factors of social functioning (i.e., behavior and language, affect and social interpersonal scores) and general social functioning across the sample. It should be noted that the 3 factors of the HiSoc (behavior, language and social-interpersonal domains) and general social functioning were highly correlated, and essentially redundant with each other (behavior and language, affect and social interpersonal scores; r's=.58-.60). See Table 5 for relationships between social functioning and schizotypy scores. However, the bivarate correlations demonstrated no significant relationships in these analyses. Interestingly, our measure of emotional withdrawal (BPRS, item 17) was unexpectedly unrelated to schizotypy scores and local measures (see Table 5).

Table 4

Pearson's Correlations Between Factor Scores and the HiSoc Total Scores (r)

HiSocFactors	HiSocO
Social-Int	.90**
Affect	.80**
Beh/Lang	.87**

**p<.01

Table 5

Pearson's Correlations of Schizotypy Scores, Global Social Functioning, and a Measure of Emotional Withdrawal

	HiSoc	Soc-Int	Affect	Behavior/
				Language
SPQ	.14	.03	.03	.10
BPRS	.08	.04	04	.10

Note. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (HiSoc, SPQ, BPRS)=.05/3=.017* p < .017, two tailed, none found

Hypothesis 2. Social dysfunction measured locally is not related to schizotypy. See Table 6 for bivariate correlational analyses of the relationships between Schizotypy (based on SPQ scores) and total scores on acoustic analysis where the IV (schizotypy scores) was predicted to not be

related to the outcome variable (acoustic analysis). As predicted there were no significant relationships found between acoustic analysis scores and SPQ scores. BPRS scores were related to acoustic analysis scores; a small effect size was observed. However, after controlling for gender and conducting bonferonni adjustments, these results were no longer significant when p < .025.

Table 6

Pearson's Correlations Between	CANS	Variables	And SPQ
--------------------------------	------	-----------	---------

	SPQ Total	BPRS
Pause	.28	.19
F0SD Local	15	20
F0Pert	24	25
F1 SD Local	.09	24
Intensity	13	13
Intensity.Pert	01	02

Note. Due to a significant difference in gender performance on the variable pause, correlations were computed to control for gender. Bolded scores represent scores that changed in significance value after controlling for gender. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (LIWC variables, HiSoc)=.05/2=.025.

See Table 7 for results related to schizotypy scores and lexical analysis scores. As

predicted there were no relationships found between these LIWC variables and SPQ scores.

Table 7Pearson's Correlations Between LIWC Variables and SPQ

	LexNeg	LexPos	Certainty
SPQ Total	.16	14	02
SPQNeg	02	.03	11
SPQPos	.03	09	.07
BPRS	08	.19	.05

Note. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (LIWC variables, SPQ)=.05/2=.025.

See Table 8 for the relationship between schizotypy scores and facial expression scores.

These results indicated a significant relationship between neutral facial expressions and the SPQ

total; a small effect size was observed. Interestingly, the present measure of emotional

withdrawal was also related to neutral facial expressions.

Table 8

Pearson's Correlations Between Facial Expression Variables and SPQ

	Negfac	Posfac	Neutfac
SPQ Total	10	15	.30*
BPRS	.04	02	.31*

Note. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (LIWC variables, SPQ, BPRS)=.05/3=.017. Scores in italics reflect scores that are significant after correction (* p < .017, two tailed).

Hypothesis 3. Emotional withdrawal could explain the relationship between schizotypy and social functioning. A mediation model was proposed to examine whether emotional withdrawal could explain the relationship between social functioning and schizotypy scores. Since the SPQ was not related to social functioning as defined by the HiSoc, a mediation model could not be computed as there would be no predictive relationship between these variable (See Table 4).

Post Hoc Analyses

A number of post analyses were computed to follow up on the findings from this study.

Post Hoc Analyses I

Null findings found between local scores and schizotypy scores potentially support the above theory that local scores and global scores are measuring different facets of communication. Local scores are examining specific features of communication (such as speech and facial expression through computerized frequencies) and global scores are assessing more overarching impressions of communication. Therefore, I was interested in further exploring the relationship between global and local measures. See Table 9 for bivariate correlations of factor scores on the global functioning measure (HiSoc) and all of the local measures (acoustic analysis, facial expression and LIWC). As predicted, there were minimal relationships found between the global measure of functioning and these local measures of functioning. Additionally, there were no significant relationships found between facial expression and overall global functioning or word choice (LIWC) and global functioning (HiSoc). There were no significant relationships between global functioning and acoustic variable measures.

Table 9

Pearson's Correlations Between Global Functioning (HiSoc) and Local Functioning (acoustic analysis, LIWC, facial expression)

	HiSocO	Soc-Int	Affect	Beh/Lang
Pause	11	05	21	16
F0 SD	07	11	.13	05
F0 Pert	02	02	.02	09
F1 SD Local	.03	07	.10	.02
F2 Local	.08	.01	.09	.12
Intensity	.08	.04	07	.01
Intensity.Pert	04	03	06	08
LexNeg	.05	.08	01	.03
LexPos	.00	.01	04	.19
Certainty	.20	.20	.19	.21
NegFac	19	10	28*	24
PosFac	.19	.07	.24	.19
NeutFac	.21	26^	.13	26^

Note. Due to a significant difference in gender performance on the variable pause, correlations were computed to control for gender. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (acoustic variables, facial expressions, LIWC, HiSoc)=.05/4=.012. Scores with ^ reflect scores that are not significant after correction

** p < .01, two tailed. .

Schizotypy Factor Scores and Global Functioning

Post Hoc Analyses II

It is possible that these null findings between schizotypy and social functioning did not

account for schizotypy heterogeneity. To further investigate whether these analyses were not

accounting for heterogeneity I examined how factor scores of the SPO related to factor scores of the global functioning measure to review whether there may be relationships within the different domains of schizotypy scores that were not fully captured by the total score of the SPQ. See Table 10 for relationships between schizotypy factor scores and global functioning scores. The present study examined factor scores of the SPQ to explore relationships within the different domains of schizotypy scores that were not fully captured by the total score of the SPQ. Results corroborate what was found above based on total SPQ scores; no relationship between SPQ scores and global functioning was observed. Since how local measures related to schizotypy were examined, further investigation was warranted regarding whether SPQ domains may be related to each of the local measures as well. Further investigations of the SPQ factor scores and the local measures confirmed above mentioned results using the total SPQ score; neutral faces were significantly related to schizotypy total scores as well as factor scores. It should be noted that few significant relationships were found with additional measures of local functioning (CANS and LIWC variables), as predicted by the data above. There was a positive relationship found between positive affect language and the positive symptoms factor of the SPQ. However, this relationship disappeared after the bonferroni adjustment. The positive symptoms factor of the SPQ was related to more neutral and positive faces (see Table 11).

	SPQPos	SPQNeg	SPQDisorg
HiSocO	.02	24	04
Soc-Int	.13	15	02
Affect	.04	11	03
Beh/Lang	06	13	04

Table 10Pearson's Correlations Between SPQ Factor Scores and Global Functioning (HiSoc)

Note. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (SPQ factor variables, HiSoc)=.05/2=.025. * p < .025, two tailed

Table 11

Pearson's Correlations Between SPQ Factors and All Local Measures of Functioning (acoustic analysis, LIWC, facial expression)

	SPQPos	SPQNeg	SPQDisorg
		_	-
Pause	07	16	11
F0 SD	13	18	23
F0 Pert	.00	.16	.06
F1 SD Local	.07	.15	.14
F2 Local	.07	04	.29
Intensity	11	.04	.02
Intensity.Pert	18	22	.11
LexNeg	.28^	02	.10
LexPos	09	17	40
Certainty	.12	07	16
NegFac	.05	23	04
PosFac	30*	04	40
NeutFac	.30*	.07	.30*

Notes. Due to a significant difference in gender performance on the variable pause, correlations were computed to control for gender. Bolded scores represent scores that changed in significance value after controlling for gender. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (acoustic analysis, facial expression, LIWX SPQ Factors)=.05/4=.01. Scores with $^$ reflect scores that are not significant after correction. * p < .01, two tailed.

Schizotypy distress and global functioning.

Post Hoc Analyses III

The prior analyses were focused on the presence of schizotypy traits as opposed to their impact and distress on an individual's life. Further exploration of distress and impairment over symptoms (or perceived symptoms) in schizotypy would potentially allow for more information regarding how perception and stress over symptoms may be related to social functioning. This investigation was warranted due to extensive previous research that individuals with schizotypy report subjective accounts of distress in emotional, cognitive, and quality of life domains (Cohen & Davis, 2009; Chun et al., 2013; Auster et al., 2013; Cohen, Callaway, & Brown, 2014; Cohen et al., 2014).

In the present analysis, a new set of scores were calculated indicating how schizotypy traits may specifically be distressing the individual experiencing these symptoms (SPQ distress score; Loewy, 2005; Cohen et al., 2014). This offered the opportunity to explore how distress may relate to social functioning, potentially speaking to a relationship between global functioning and the subjective-objective dysjunction.

See Table 12 for correlations between distress over schizotypy traits and global social functioning (SPQ Distress and HiSoc). The HiSoc did not correlate with distress over schizotypy scores, building more evidence that this measure of global functioning is not related to psychometric schizotypy. Additionally, few significant findings were found between SPQ distress and dependent variables associated with the local measures of functioning, including facial expression, acoustic analyses and LIWC. A moderate sized relationship was observed between interpersonal distress and intensity-perturbation; however, after controlling for gender, this relationship was no longer significant. Additionally, a small effect size was observed in the relationship between cognitive distress and positive word choice. This relationship disappeared after the bonferonni adjustment for multiple comparisons (Table 13). Furthermore, the minimal

findings among local measures of functioning and SPQ scores continue to speak to the lack of relationships across SPQ status and local assessment of speech, facial expression, and acoustic analysis.

Table 12

Pearson's Correlations Between SPQ Distress Variables and Global Functioning (HiSoc)

	PosDis	NegDis	DisorgDis
HiSocO	06	07	03
Soc-Int	.04	05	.05
Affect	11	17	07
Beh/Lang	09	10	.01

Note. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (HiSoc, SPQ Distress)=.05/2=.025.

Table 13

Pearson's Correlations Between SPQ Distress Scores and All Local Measures of Functioning (acoustic analysis, LIWC, facial expression)

	SPQPosDis	SPQNegDis	SPQDisorg
Pause	.08	.21	.07
F0 SD	22	22	08
F0 Pert	13	23	10
F1 SD Local	04	12	.12
F2 Local	.09	.11	.20
Intensity	.04	08	.04
Intensity.Pert	13	37	08
LexNeg	.28^	.05	.03
LexPos	.05	08	.10
Certainty	.03	14	05
NegFac	.20	20	.02
PosFac	.02	11	.00
NeutFac	.08	13	.18

Notes. Due to a significant difference in gender performance on the variable pause, correlations were computed to control for gender. Bolded scores represent scores that changed in significance value after controlling for gender. Bonferonni family-wise correction applied, (acoustic analysis, facial expression, LIWC, SPQ Factors)=.05/4=.01. Scores with ^ reflect scores that are not significant after correction.

Discussion

The present study examined the relationship between global and local measures of functioning and psychometrically defined schizotypy. Global measures of social functioning were conceptualized as overarching impressions of social functioning. These measures potentially assess observable difficulty in expression and communication in social settings (Collins et al., 2005; Gibson et al., 2010; Cohen et al., 2014). Localized measures of communication and social functioning were conceptualized as specific mechanics of speech, language, and body language such as facial expression and linguistics. These measures have shown minimal, if any, relationship to schizotypy compared to matched peers (Cohen et al., 2012; Cohen et al., 2012). These local measures are focused on distinctive features of communication that may not be directly related to difficulties or differences that individuals with schizotypy report or express.

The present study explored the relationship between global social functioning, including global and local measures of functioning, and schizotypy scores using a dimensional sample with college age students. This study employed a novel methodology, utilizing local objective computerized measures of communication (i.e., facial expression, speech and language) across a sample of individuals with varying degrees of schizotypy traits. Social functioning was examined through a number of different measures, assessing features that were proposed to be related to social functioning among individuals with schizotypy traits. The present study proposed that global and local measures may measure different features of social functioning. Further, it examined whether global functioning may be superior to standard local measures when detecting subtle distinctions in social functioning for individuals who differ in amount of schizotypy traits.

As demonstrated by previous research on local measures of functioning related to schizotypy (e.g., facial analysis, Cohen et al., 2013; acoustic analysis, Cohen et al., 2012; neurocognition, Chun et al., 2013), this study found that the majority of local measures did not show a relationship between social functioning in those with higher or lower levels of schizotypy. While Gibson and colleagues (2010) demonstrated significant social functioning difficulties based on the HiSoc for individuals on the schizophrenia spectrum (i.e., individuals at high genetic risk), this present study demonstrated no significant differences between participants' scores in psychometric schizotypy and global social functioning. There are various interesting potential implications based on these findings.

Hypothesis I: Global social functioning and schizotypy scores arerelated.

The present data did not demonstrate a relationship between global functioning and social functioning, as exhibited in previous literature (e.g., Gibson et al., 2010). One explanation of these non-significant findings may be the dimensional nature of schizotypy traits in the current participant sample. Previous literature often categorically defines schizotypy traits (i.e., separating extreme-high scorers on the SPQ compared to low-scorers; i.e., Raine et al., 1999; Cohen et al., 2010; Cohen et al., 2011) when investigating the relationship between scores on social functioning measures (Chapman & Chapman, 1983; Korfine & Lenzenwegger, 1995; Kwapil, Gross, Silvia, & Barrantes-Videl, 2013; Cohen, Auster, MacCauley, & McGovern, 2014). The present dimensional approach potentially limits the findings, as the individuals included in the present sample were college students presumably functioning at a high level. Upon further examination, only a small number of individuals were extreme scorers on the SPQ (n < 15); this sample size did not allow for meaningful interpretations of these data.

It should be noted that the observed reduced range of social functioning in this sample is potentially a product of sampling procedures. There was a limited pool of individuals recruited for the study who exhibited traits consistent with the extreme end of the schizotypy spectrum. One can posit that the majority of the sample is at lower risk for schizotypy, as college students had low scores on the SPQ and demonstrated higher social and cognitive functioning. Thus, these individuals do not reveal the type of impairment on a global measure of functioning that we may see in a categorical sample. Additional exploration of this subset may show fewer psychopathological symptoms overall, indicating that this group may need separate identifiers of risk, as they are different from a categorical schizotypy construct.

Meehl's model (see Figure 1) of the schizophrenia spectrum distinguishes a broad range of risk among the 10% of the population with schizotaxia, or a vulnerability to schizophrenia (Meehl, 1990; Korfine & Lenzenwegger, 1995). Research supports that ultra-high-risk individuals, those with high genetic susceptibility, exhibit a host of subclinical symptoms and evidence of functioning deterioration. These individuals often begin to demonstrate objective clinical and cognitive symptoms prior to psychotic episodes (Yung et al., 2006; Moburg et al., 2013). However to date, minimal research has investigated the individuals included in this 10% who fall in the lower end of the spectrum of distinct schizotypy traits (Ingram & Luxton, 2005). These findings imply that vulnerability within this spectrum is heterogeneous; individuals with lower self-reported schizotypy traits potentially need more sensitive instruments to discern if social functioning differences are present.

Gibson and colleagues (2010) explored the relationship between individuals at high-risk for schizophrenia and global functioning, as opposed to the current exploratory study which included high functioning individuals (i.e., college students) with varying levels of schizotypy

traits. It can be postulated that the measures of global social functioning (HiSoc) in the present student did not have the sensitivity for detection of differences in individuals with lower risk of schizotypy. This measure may not have determined the type or quality of differences in social functioning, which would have allowed meaningful interpretations about social functioning for the present study's sample to have been made.

Previous research has shown that neutral face expression and identification is an important factor that is different for individuals on the schizophrenia spectrum (Hooker & Park, 2002; Brown & Cohen, 2010). These findings were also observed in the current study, however, the HiSoc ratings of facial affect group together ratings of odd or aberrant facial affect and nonverbal communication (i.e., abnormal blinking, muted or excessive expression; see Table 14). It can be posited that these definitions are not clear enough. Given that HiSoc items are rated on a scale of "abnormal" to "normal", the measure does not allow for differentiation between abnormal muted communication and abnormally excessive language or body expression. It should be noted that, while global impression is important, differentiating what it means to be "abnormal" or "normal" may be an important piece of correctly identifying differences in social functioning. Additionally, it is important to operationally define and isolate the presence of impairment in individuals on the schizophrenia spectrum (i.e., perception of difficulty with social and cognitive tasks and neutral facial expression; Hooker & Park, 2002; Brown & Cohen, 2010; Chun et al., 2013). While the HiSoc is likely a measure to examine more global features and impression of social functioning, additional attention should be focused on methods to investigate social functioning difficulties in schizotypy (i.e., differentiating neutral expression and all affect expression). Specifically, the HiSoc examines rater-based social functioning in three domains of social functioning (social-interpersonal, affect, and behavior and language); this

evaluation may not be expansive enough to determine normal and abnormal domains of social communication. For example, a recent study of 223 individuals with schizotypy traits demonstrated that individuals with higher schizotypy scores performed worse on social functioning using the Social Functioning Scale (SFS; Birchwood, Smith, Cochrane, Wetton, & Copestake, 1990), which utilizes self-report to assess seven domains of social behavior, including: social engagement/withdrawal, recreation, independence-competence, interpersonal behavior, independence-performance, prosocial behavior, and employment/occupation (Henry, Bailey, & Rendell, 2008). Perhaps a more sensitive measure would include self-report ratings and objective ratings of all of these features of social functioning. This may suggest the need for development of a sensitive, yet objective global measure of social functioning and behavior, as pairing self-report measures with observer-rated tasks potentially could reveal more complete information about social functioning.

Hypothesis II: Schizotypy scores are not related to local measures of functioning.

One significant relationship was found between local measures of functioning and schizotypy scores, indicating that the amount of neutral faces expressed was related to scores on the SPQ. This finding suggests that neutral facial expressions may be related to schizotypy traits; further examination of neutrality may yield a method to discern social functioning differences for those with symptoms of schizotypy. Interestingly, a previous study observed that individuals with schizotypy demonstrated inaccurate facial recognition of neutral faces when compared with healthy controls (Brown & Cohen, 2010). It appears that facial expression and identification of neutrality may be a marker for schizotypy traits. The absence of affect is potentially more difficult for individuals with schizotypy to name or communicate. This suggests that observer-

rated global measures of social functioning could benefit from more expansive rating systems of facial expression.

Previous literature demonstrates that variables of acoustic analysis, facial expression, and linguistics are not highly correlated with self-reported schizotypy traits. The present study supports this assertion, as the local measures of speech and emotion do not detect difficulties in social functioning for those with schizotypy. This is similar to previous research in which these local measures of speech and emotion did not detect difficulties in the social functioning of individuals with schizotypy when compared to difficulties found in individuals with schizophrenia (i.e., abnormal speech or excessive or decreased emotional expression; Gruzelier et al., 1988; Cooklin et al., 1983; Najolia et al., 2011; Gabay et al., 2013; Cohen et al., 2014).

Relatedly, this study examined a measure of emotional withdrawal, which may be related to individuals with social functioning deficits. The present study did not establish a relationship between social functioning, schizotypy, and emotional withdrawal. Interestingly, emotional withdrawal was related to amount of neutral faces expressed. Perhaps future research should investigate the detection and expression of neutral faces when developing sensitive measures in social functioning distinctions. Previous research has demonstrated that individuals with schizophrenia have trouble accurately identifying social intentions when looking at faces with less intense affect (Hooker & Park, 2002). Impressions of facial affect are also generally found to be related to more obvious expression of emotion (Ekman, 1972). Thus, problems with discerning less intensive emotional faces and dysfunction in communicating less intense emotional faces may be markers for individuals with problems in social functioning. It is postulated that individuals with schizotypy traits struggle with this expression and are therefore perceived by others to have social functioning problems. Accordingly, future studies should

explore this dysfunction when developing sensitive and discerning measures of global social functioning.

Post Hoc Analyses I: The current study postulated that measures of global functioning would be superior to those of local functioning when examining different features of communication. The present data did not show that the global measure of social functioning was related to social functioning for those with schizotypy traits. However, local measures were also largely unrelated to schizotypy, demonstrating that these measures may not be helpful in determining discrepancies between those with higher traits of schizotypy and those with lower traits. Additionally as predicted, measures of global social functioning (HiSoc) were unrelated to local measures of functioning (acoustic, facial, and linguistic). Therefore, it is recommended that future research investigates whether these measurements are independent of each other, as the current data suggest that they are measuring different types of functioning. It is also important to acknowledge that local measures are consistently found to be unrelated to functioning for individuals with schizotypy.

Post Hoc Analyses II: Further, in addition to no relationships between the SPQ and HiSoc overall scores, SPQ factor scores were not related to the HiSoc factor scores. The present study did not find any relationship indicating subtle distinctions between SPQ traits and domains of global social functioning. Largely, the local measures of functioning did not show a relationship to symptom clusters of schizotypy. It should be noted that a few relationships indicated that the positive symptoms of the SPQ were related to more positive facial expressions, as well as more neutral faces. This finding reaffirms the prior assertion that future research will benefit from the exploration of facial expression in relation to schizotypy traits, as opposed to

local measures of speech. Additionally, this asserts that future studies should focus on the development of measures to detect social functioning distinctions in the schizophrenia spectrum.

Post Hoc Analysis III: No relationship between distress of schizotypy symptoms and local/global measurements of functioning was observed in the present study. This further suggests that both local and global measurements included in the present study were not sensitive enough to detect relationships between social functioning for individuals with higher schizotypy scores and global functioning. It is possible that the global measure of functioning (HiSoc) used in this study was also not sensitive enough to detect a relationship between schizotypy traits and objective social functioning (similar to the relationship observed between schizotypy and lack of objective evidence of poor functioning compared to self-reported functioning; Cohen & Davis, 2009; Chun et al., 2013; Cohen et al., 2014). This may be due to the dimensional nature of the samples, which included higher functioning individuals. However, it should be noted that a measure sensitive enough to explore global/local social functioning while identifying social functioning differences among those with or without schizotypy has yet to be developed.

Future directions and limitations

As discussed in the introduction of this project, there is evidence that individuals with schizotypy report subjective, local social functioning deficits; there is limited objective evidence of this phenomenon (Cohen & Davis, 2009; Cohen et al., 2012; Chun et al., 2013). This exploratory study sought to examine differential and discerning measures of functioning across a group that consistently reports symptoms that are not found in objective assessment. Perhaps future research should focus on establishing a means to quantify subjective reports of these perceived social function deficits. Observer-rated social role play began to examine this dysjunction; however, the present data did not support a relationship between objective global

social functioning and schizotypy. Future research should seek to examine increasingly sensitive measures that can reveal a convergence of subjective self-reported difficulties and objective difficulties.

Additional research is also needed to examine pre- and post-subjective experiences in every day experience and perception of social interactions. For instance, research could focus on whether individuals with higher schizotypy would perceive more difficulties in social interactions than those with few schizotypy traits. Additionally, pre- and post-task research is needed to discern whether the extent of one's schizotypy traits would impact negative perceptions of one's performance on the HiSoc task.

Exploration of in-the-moment accounts of social experience that can be measured by experience sampling methodologies is also recommended. In this type of research individuals note in-the-moment perceptions of the experience, which allow researchers to investigate both perceptions of the experience and the objective experiences itself. For example, Kwapil and colleagues (2013) asked 412 college students to keep daily, electronic structured diaries, which documented both the students' daily experiences and the affect related to these experiences. Individuals in this sample with schizotypy showed increased negative affect, thought impairment, and perceived rejection compared to matched controls (Kwapil et al., 2013). This is an example of future directions for the comparison of self-reported subjective concerns voiced by those with schizotypy in comparison to quantifiable objective experience. In developing additional sensitive measures of global functioning, detection, and expression of neutrality appears to be a salient feature that should be included when determining accurate measurement of schizotypy functioning.

Additionally, future research should address whether the subjective reports of dysfunction are related to a social functioning deficit, or if the perception of dysfunction is unrelated to capacity for social function. In the latter case, research would need to investigate whether perception by itself is an indication of schizophrenia-related risk, independently of objective functioning. Additionally, research should focus on social functioning, as it relates to engagement and emotional connectedness. This was an example used in this project because it is tangentially related to subjective complaints including quality of support system and quality of life and functioning. For instance, individuals with schizotypy report subjective quality of life deficits in domains of health and satisfaction of social support at levels up to two standard deviations lower than matched peers, and comparable to individuals with schizophrenia (Cohen & Davis, 2009; Cohen et al., 2013). Individuals with schizophrenia also show objective deficits in these domains of quality of life, whereas individuals with schizotypy do not (Cohen et al., 2014). Future research should include directly comparable questions about perception of these variables subjectively and objectively.

In accordance with the idea that studying schizotypy dimensionally may focus on a lower at-risk sample of individuals, additional research is needed to compare dimensional and categorical research in schizotypy. A major limitation of this study was that it included a small sample size that did not allow for further exploration into a broader range of scores on all dependent variables. Further research should examine a larger and more diverse group of schizotypy scores that can examine individuals' dimensionally, and also extreme groups of scorers. Relatedly, the Gibson (2009) study of individuals with categorically defined genetic high-risk to schizophrenia, showed an overall average social functioning score of 56.07 (SD: 12.97) while this sample of individuals comparably averaged approximately 55.07 in social

functioning, however the standard deviation (in this dataset) was 8.27. This sample (homogenous college students) potentially had a more limited range of social functioning compared to the genetic high risk sample evaluated in Gibson 2010. Evaluating a sample with greater variability in social functioning scores (at different levels of education, age and demographics) would possibly reveal differences in functioning that aren't captured from this limited range of scores.

An additional limitation of the current study was the absence of convergent validity measures to compare to the HiSoc global functioning measure. While we examined potential related measures of effort and performance on an IQ measure (WRAT) and psychopathology scores (BSI), the theoretical ties between the measures in these data were weak. Comparing convergent measures to the HiSoc would isolate whether the HiSoc measure was sensitive enough to demonstrate differences in motivation and effort in social functioning or psychopathology. Examining the results as a whole, the present data suggest that this global measurement was potentially not sensitive enough to detect a relationship between social functioning and schizotypy. Additional research is needed to examine whether the global measure (and all future global measures) of functioning are consistent with motivation, effort, and confidence that should be related to high scores in social functioning. Relatedly, it will be important to continue examining whether global measures, such as the HiSoc task, produce meaningful data related to social functioning outside of individuals at high risk for schizophrenia or psychopathology (i.e. content validity). This measure may not be sensitive enough to evaluate individuals who are generally higher in functioning across social functioning domains.

Conclusions

Individuals with schizotypy are an important group to study in order to understand risk status and to identify potential markers of risk that lend to possibilities for early intervention.

Understanding more about these risk markers can reveal a greater understanding of how to isolate individuals who are suffering from reported social functioning difficulties or distress that impact their quality of life. This study built upon previous research in that it examined potential ways to identify this risk through a more dimensional model that allows for greater identification of social functioning related to low-high schizotypy traits, employed local computerized measures of speech and facial expression, and also introduced a global measure of social functioning. The present study explored how global functioning and local functioning compare, as well as whether local measures reveal meaningful distinctions in social functioning for those with schizotypy traits. The results further confirmed that local objective measurement fails to find a relationship between social functioning and individuals with schizotypy traits. While the findings failed to confirm that a global measure of functioning would be superior at detecting social functioning distinctions among individuals with schizotypy compared to local measures, these data suggest a need for greater sensitivity in measures. These developments in assessment will help to determine whether it is possible to identify whether subjective reports of social functioning difficulties are related to other types of objective functioning difficulties for those with schizotypy, and how this can inform our understanding of individuals across the schizophrenia spectrum.

References

- Addington, J., & Addington, D. (2000). Neurocognitive and social functioning in schizophrenia: a 2.5 year follow-up study. *Schizophrenia Research*, 44(1), 47-56.doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0920-9964(99)00160-7.
- Addington, J., Epstein, I., Liu, L., French, P., Boydell, K. M., & Zipursky, R. B. (2011). A randomized controlled trial of cognitive behavioral therapy for individuals at clinical high risk of psychosis. *Schizophrenia Research*, 125(1), 54-61. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2010.10.015.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, Fifth Edition.* Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Argyle, M. (1976). Social skills theory. *Children as teachers; theory and research on tutoring*, 57-74.
- Auster, T. L., Cohen, A. S., Callaway, D. A., & Brown, L. A. (2014). Objective and subjective olfaction across the schizophrenia spectrum. *Psychiatry*, 77, 57-66. doi:10.1521/psyc.2014.77.1.57.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 117. doi: 10.1037/0022 3514.51.6.1173.
- Bediou, B., Asri, F., Brunelin, J., Krolak-Salmon, P., D'Amato, Hierry, T, T, Saoud, M., & Tazi, I. (2007). Emotion recognition and genetic vulnerability to schizophrenia. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 191(2), 126-130. doi: 10.1192 106.028829.
- Birchwood, M., Smith, J. O., Cochrane, R., Wetton, S., & Copestake, S. (1990). The Social Functioning Scale. The development and validation of a new scale of social adjustment for use in family intervention programmes with schizophrenic patients. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 157(6), 853-859.
- Bleuler, E. (1911). *Dementia praecox or the group of schizophrenias*. English Translation 1961. International Universities Press, New York.
- Boersma, P., & Weenink, D. (1999). 2013. Praat: Doing phonetics by computer. Software.
- Bora, E., Yucel, M., & Pantelis, C. (2009). Cognitive endophenotypes of bipolardisorder: a metaanalysis of neuropsychological deficits in euthymic patients and their first degree relatives. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *113*(1), 120 doi:10.1016/j.jad.2008.06.009.
- Bowie, C. R., Reichenberg, A., Patterson, T. L., Heaton, R. K., & Harvey, P. D. (2006). Determinants of real-world functional performance in schizophrenia subjects:

correlations with cognition, functional capacity, and symptoms. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *163*(3), 418-425. doi:10.1176.163.3.418.

- Brackett, M. A., Rivers, S. E., Shiffman, S., Lerner, N., & Salovey, P. (2006). Relating emotional abilities to social functioning: a comparison of self-report and performance measures of emotional intelligence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 91(4), 780. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.91.4.780.
- Brown, L. A., & Cohen, A. S. (2010). Facial emotion recognition in schizotypy: the role of accuracy and social cognitive bias. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *16*(03), 474-483.doi: 10.1017/S135571.
- Brozgold, A. Z., Borod, J. C., Martin, C. C., Pick, L. H., Alpert, M., & Welkowitz, J. (1998). Social functioning and facial emotional expression in neurological and psychiatric disorders. *Applied Neuropsychology*, 5(1), 15-23. doi:10.1207/s15324826an0501_2.
- Bruder, G. E., Alschuler, D. M., Kroppmann, C. J., Fekri, S., Gil, R. B., Jarskog, L. F., ... & Wexler, B. E. (2011). Heterogeneity of auditory verbal working memory in schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *120*(1). doi: 88 10.1037/a0021661.
- Callaway, D. A., Cohen, A. S., Matthews, R. A., & Dinzeo, T. (2014). Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire-Brief Revised: Psychometric replication and extension. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment, 5*, 32-38. doi:10.1037/per0000041.
- Campbell, I. M., & Gregson, R. A. M. (1972). Olfactory short term memory in normal, schizophrenic and brain-damaged cases *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 24(2), 179-185. doi: 10.1080/00049537208255802.
- Cannon, T. D., Cadenhead, K., Cornblatt, B., Woods, S. W., Addington, J., Walker, E., & Heinssen, R. (2008). Prediction of psychosis in youth at high clinical risk: a multisite longitudinal study in North America. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65(1), 28. doi: 10.1001.
- Chapman, L. J., & Chapman, J. P. (1983). Infrequency Scale. Madison, WI: Unpublished.
- Chapman, J. P., Chapman, L. J., & Kwapil, T. R. (1995). Scales for the measurement of schizotypy. *Schizotypal Personality*, 79-106.
- Chun, C. A., Minor, K. S., & Cohen, A. S. (2013). Neurocognition in psychometrically defined college schizotypy samples: We are NOT measuring the "right stuff." *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 19, 324-337. doi:10.1017/S135561771200152.
- Cohen, J., & Cohen, P. (1983). *Applied Multiple Regression/correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

- Cohen, A. S., & Docherty, N. M. (2005). Effects of positive affect on speech disorder in schizophrenia. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 193(12), 839-842.PMID: 16319708.
- Cohen, A. S., Alpert, M., Nienow, T. M., Dinzeo, T. J., & Docherty, N. M. (2008). Computerized measurement of negative symptoms in schizophrenia. Journal of *Psychiatric Research*, 42(10), 827. doi:10.1016/2007.08.008.
- Cohen, A. S., & Davis, T. E. (2009). Quality of life across the schizotypy spectrum: findings from a large nonclinical adult sample. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *50*(5), 408-414. doi:10.1016/2008.11.002.
- Cohen, A. S., St-Hilaire, A., Aakre, J. M., & Docherty, N. M. (2009). Understanding anhedonia in schizophrenia through lexical analysis of natural speech. *Cognition and Emotion*, 23(3), 569-586. doi: 10.1080/02699930802044651.
- Cohen, A. S., Matthews, R. A., Najolia, G. M., & Brown, L. A. (2010). Toward a more psychometrically sound brief measure of schizotypal traits: Introducing the SPQ-Brief Revised. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 24, 516-537. doi:10.1521 2010.24.4.516.
- Cohen, A. S., & Minor, K. S. (2010). Emotional experience in patients with schizophrenia revisited: Meta-analysis of laboratory studies. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 36, 143-150. doi:10.1093
- Cohen, A. S., Beck, M. R., Najolia, G. M., & Brown, L. A. (2011). Affective disturbances in psychometrically defined schizotypy across direct, but not indirect assessment modes. *Schizophrenia Research*, *128*, 136-142. doi:10.1016/2011.02.004.
- Cohen, A. S., & Hong, S. L. (2011). Understanding constricted affect in schizotypy through computerized prosodic analysis. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 25(4), 478-491. doi: 10.152125.4.478.
- Cohen, A. S., Callaway, D. A., Najolia, G. M., Larsen, J. T., & Strauss, G. P. (2012). On "risk" and reward: Investigating state anhedonia in psychometrically defined schizotypy and schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*, 407-415. doi:10.1037/a0026155.
- Cohen, A. S., Brown, L. A., & Auster, T. L. (2012). Olfaction, "olfiction," and the schizophrenia spectrum: an updated meta-analysis on identification and acuity. *Schizophrenia research*, *135*(1), 152-157.doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.12.005
- Cohen, A. S., Morrison, S. C., Brown, L. A., & Minor, K. S. (2012). Towards a cognitive resource limitations model of diminished expression in schizotypy. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 121(1), 109. doi: 10.1037/a0023599.

- Cohen, A. S., Morrison, S. C., & Callaway, D. A. (2013). Computerized facial analysis for understanding constricted/blunted affect: Initial feasibility, reliability, and validity data. *Schizophrenia Research*, *148*(1), 111-116. doi:10.10162013.05.003.
- Cohen, A. S., Renshaw, T. L., Mitchell, K. R., & Kim, Y. (2015). A psychometric investigation of "macroscopic" speech measures for clinical and psychological science. *Behavior Research Methods*. doi:10.3758/s13428-015-0584-1
- Cohen, A. S., Auster, T. L., MacAulay, R. K., & McGovern, J. E. (2014). The paradox of schizotypy: Resemblance to prolonged severe mental illness in subjective but not objective quality of life. *Psychiatry Research*, 217(3), 185-190. doi:10.1016.2014.03.016.
- Collins, L. M., Blanchard, J. J., & Biondo, K. M. (2005). Behavioral signs of schizoidia and schizotypy in social anhedonics. *Schizophrenia Research*, 78(2), 309 322.doi:10.10162005.04.021.
- Cooklin, R. U. T. H., Sturgeon, D., & Leff, J. (1983). The relationship between auditory hallucinations and spontaneous fluctuations of skin conductance in schizophrenia. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 142(1), 47-52. doi: 10.1192/bjp.142.1.47.
- Corley, P. C., & Wedeking, J. (2014). The (dis) advantage of certainty: The importance of certainty in language. *Law & Society Review*, 48(1), 35-62. doi: 10.1111/lasr.12058.
- Curran, P. J., West, S. G., & Finch, J. F. (1996). The robustness of test statistics to nonnormality and specification error in confirmatory factor analysis.*Psychological Methods*, *1*(1), 16. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.1.1.16.
- Derogatis, L. R., & Melisaratos, N. (1983). The brief symptom inventory: an introductory report. *Psychological Medicine*, *13*(03), 595-605. doi: 10.1017.
- Dinn, W. M., Harris, C. L., Aycicegi, A., Greene, P., & Andover, M. S. (2002). Positive and negative schizotypy in a student sample: neurocognitive and clinical correlates. *Schizophrenia Research*, *56*(1). doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00230-4.
- Earnst, K. S., Kring, A. M., Kadar, M. A., Salem, J. E., Shepard, D. A., & Loosen, P. T. (1996). Facial expression in schizophrenia. *Biological Psychiatry*, *40*(6), 556-558. 71 185.doi:10.1016/0006-3223(96)00171-0.

Eisenberg, N., Spinrad, T. L., & Morris, A. S. (2002). Regulation, resiliency, and quality of social functioning. *Self and Identity*, 1(2), 121-128. doi:10.1080/152988602317319294.

- Ekman, P. (1973). Cross-cultural studies of facial expression. *Darwin and facial expression: A century of research in review*, 169-222.
- Esterberg, M. L., Goulding, S. M., McClure-Tone, E. B., & Compton, M. T. (2009). Schizotypy and nicotine, alcohol, and cannabis use in a non-psychiatric sample. *Addictive Behaviors*, *34*(4), 374-379. doi:10.10162008.11.007.

- Ferguson, M. L., & Katkin, E. S. (1996). Visceral perception, anhedonia, and emotion. *Biological Psychology*, *42*(1), 131-145. doi:10.1016/0301-0511(95)05151-1.
- Fervaha, G., Agid, O., Takeuchi, H., Foussias, G., & Remington, G. (2013). Clinical determinants of life satisfaction in chronic schizophrenia: Data from the CATIE study. *Schizophrenia Research*, 151(1), 203-208. doi:10.10162013.10.021.
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS. Sage Publications.
- Fiorito, E. R., & Simons, R. F. (1994). Emotional imagery and physical anhedonia. *Psychophysiology*, 31(5), 513-521. doi: 10.111101055.
- First, M.B., Gibbon, M., Spitzer, R.L., Williams, J.B.W. (1996). User's guide for the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IVAxis I Disorders–Research Version (SCID-I, version 2.0, February1996 Final Version). Biometrics Research Department. New York State Psychiatric Institute, New York. doi: 10.1002/9781118625392.
- Fitzgibbons, L., & Simons, R. F. (1992). Affective Response to Color-Slide Stimuli in Subjects with Physical Anhedonia: A Three-Systems Analysis. *Psychophysiology*, 29(6), 613-620. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1992.
- Fridlund, A. J. (1997). The new ethology of human facial expressions. *The Psychology of Facial Expression*, *112*, 103-129.

G*Power, version 3.1.2, 2010.

- Gabay, A. S., Kempton, M. J., & Mehta, M. A. (2014). Facial affect processing deficits in schizophrenia: A meta-analysis of antipsychotic treatment effects. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*. doi:0269881114560184.
- Gibson, C. M., Penn, D. L., Prinstein, M. J., Perkins, D. O., & Belger, A. (2010). Social skill and social cognition in adolescents at genetic risk for psychosis. *Schizophrenia Research*, 122(1), 179-184. doi:10.10162010.04.018.
- Gibson, C.M. & Penn, D.L. (2009). Appendix B, C & D. The High-Risk Social Challenge (HiSoc) Task. University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill. Unpublished.
- Gooding, D. C., Davidson, R. J., Putnam, K. M., & Tallent, K. A. (2002). Normative emotion modulated startle response in individuals at risk for schizophrenia–spectrum disorders. *Schizophrenia Research*, *57*(1), 109-120. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(01)00295.
- Gross-Isseroff, R., Luca-Haimovici, K., Sasson, Y., Kindler, S., Kotler, M., & Zohar, J. (1994). Olfactory sensitivity in major depressive disorder and obsessive compulsive disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, *35*(10), 798-802. doi:10.1016/0006-3223(94)91142-8.

- Gruzelier, J., Seymour, K., Wilson, L., Jolley, A., & Hirsch, S. (1988). Impairments on neuropsychologic tests of temporohippocampal and frontohippocampal functions and word fluency in remitting schizophrenia and affective disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 45(7), 623-629. doi:10.1001.1988.01800310027003.
- Guerini, M., Pepe, A., & Lepri, B. (2012). Do linguistic style and readability of scientific abstracts affect their virality? International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media, North America.
- Henry, J. D., Bailey, P. E., & Rendell, P. G. (2008). Empathy, social functioning and schizotypy. *Psychiatry research*, *160*(1), 15-22. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2007.04.014.
- Herman, J. L. (1992). Trauma and recovery: The aftermath of violence—From domestic abuse to political terror. New York: Basic Books.
- Herson, M. (2011). Etiological considerations. *Adult psychopathology and diagnosis*. John Wiley & Sons. ISBN 9781118138847.
- Herringer, G. T. M. (2014). Narrative-Based Linguistic Predictors of Well-Being. University of Arizona.
- Hoekert, M., Kahn, R. S., Pijnenborg, M., & Aleman, A. (2007). Impaired recognition and expression of emotional prosody in schizophrenia: review and meta analysis. *Schizophrenia Research*, 96(1), 135-145. doi:10.10162007.07.023.
- Hooker, C., & Park, S. (2002). Emotion processing and its relationship to social functioning in schizophrenia patients. *Psychiatry Research*, 112(1), 41-50. doi:10.1016/S01651781(02)00177-4.
- Ingram, R. E., & Luxton, D. D. (2005). Vulnerability-stress models. *Development of psychopathology: A vulnerability-stress perspective*, 32-46.
- Kamath, V., & Bedwell, J. S. (2008). Olfactory identification performance in individuals with psychometrically-defined schizotypy. *Schizophrenia Research*, 100(1), 212-215. doi:10.10162007.10.008.
- Kendler, K. S., Thacker, L., & Walsh, D. (1996). Self-report measures of schizotypy as indices of familial vulnerability to schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 22(3), 511-520. doi: 10.109322.3.511.
- Kerns, J.G.(2006) Schizotypy facets, cognitive control and emotion. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 115(3); 418-427. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.115.3.418.
- Kohler, C. G., Turner, T. H., Bilker, W. B., Brensinger, C. M., Siegel, S. J., Kanes, S. J., ... & Gur, R. C. (2003). Facial emotion recognition in schizophrenia: intensity effects and error pattern. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(10), 176 1774. Doi: 10.1176.160.101768.

- Korfine, L., & Lenzenweger, M. F. (1995). The taxonicity of schizotypy: a replication. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 104(1), 26. doi:10.1037/0021843X.104.1.26.
- Kosson, D.S., Byrnes, K.A., Park, S. (1999). *The Interpersonal measure of schizoidia and schizotypy (IM-SS)*. Unpublished test.
- Kraepelin, E. (1919). *Dementia Praecox and Paraphrenia*. Translated by R.M. Barclay. Edinburgh, Scotland: E. and S. Livingstone, 1971.
- Kwapil, T. R., Chapman, J. P., Chapman, L. J., & Miller, M. B. (1996). Deviant olfactory experiences as indicators of risk for psychosis. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 22(2), 371-382.
- Kwapil, T. R., Barrantes-Vidal, N., Brown, L. H., Silvia, P. J., & Myin-Germeys, I. (2008). The expression of positive and negative schizotypy in daily life: An experience sampling study. *European Psychiatry*, 23. doi: dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2008.01.744.
- Kwapil, T. R., Gross, G. M., Silvia, P. J., & Barrantes-Vidal, N. (2013). Prediction of psychopathology and functional impairment by positive and negative schizotypy in the Chapmans' ten-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 122(3), 807. doi:10.1037/a0033759.
- Le Lievre, J. A., Schweitzer, R., & Barnard, A. (2011). The subjective experience of negative symptoms: characteristics of emotional withdrawal. *Experiencing Psychosis: Personal and Professional Perspectives*, 187-196. ISBN:9780415580335.
- Lenzenweger, M. F. (2006). Schizotypy an organizing framework for schizophrenia research. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *15*(4), 162-166. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2006.00428.
- Ligon, J., & Thyer, B. A. (2000). Interrater reliability of the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale used at a community-based inpatient crisis stabilization unit. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *56*(4), 583-587.
- Loewy, R. L., Bearden, C. E., Johnson, J. K., Raine, A., & Cannon, T. D. (2005). The prodromal questionnaire (PQ): preliminary validation of a self-report screening measure for prodromal and psychotic syndromes. *Schizophrenia Research*, 79(1), 117-125.PMID: 16276559.
- Lukoff, D., Nuechterlein, K.H., & Ventura, J. (1986). Appendix A: Manual for Expanded Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS). Schizophrenia Bulletin, 12, 594-602.
- Margariti, M., Ploumpidis, D., Economou, M., Christodoulou, G. N., & Papadimitriou, G. N. (2014). Quality of life in schizophrenia spectrum disorders: Associations with insight and psychopathology. *Psychiatry Research*. doi:10.10162014.11.016.

- Markon, K. E., Chmielewski, M., & Miller, C. J. (2011). The reliability and validity of discrete and continuous measures of psychopathology: a quantitative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137(5), 856. doi: 10.1037/a0023678
- Mata, I., Gilvarry, C. M., Jones, P. B., Lewis, S. W., Murray, R. M., & Sham, P. C. (2003). Schizotypal personality traits in nonpsychotic relatives are associated with positive symptoms in psychotic probands. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 29(2), 273. doi: 14552503
- Mathews, J. R., & Barch, D. M. (2010). Emotion responsivity, social cognition, and functional outcome in schizophrenia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*,119(1),50. doi:10.1037/a0017861.
- McCleery, A., Divilbiss, M., St-Hilaire, A., Aakre, J. M., Seghers, J. P., Bell, E. K., & Docherty, N. M. (2012). Predicting social functioning in schizotypy: an investigation of the relative contributions of theory of mind and mood. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 200(2), 147-152.doi:10.1097b013e3182439533
- McClure, M. M., Bowie, C. R., Patterson, T. L., Heaton, R. K., Weaver, C., Anderson, H., & Harvey, P. D. (2007). Correlations of functional capacity and neuropsychological performance in older patients with schizophrenia: evidence for specificity of relationships?. *Schizophrenia Research*, 89(1), 330–338. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2006.07.024.
- Meehl, P. E. (1990). Toward an integrated theory of schizotaxia, schizotypy, and schizophrenia. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 4(1), 1-99. doi:10.15211990.4.1.1.
- Miller, P., Byrne, M., Hodges, A., Lawrie, S.M., Owens, D.G.C., & Johnstone, E.C. (2002). Schizotypal components in people athigh risk of developing schizophrenia: early = findings from the Edinburgh high-risk study. *Brittish. Journal of Psychiatry*, 180, 179-184. doi: 10.1192/bjp.180.2.179.
- Minor, K. S., Cohen, A. S., Weber, C. R., & Brown, L. A. (2011). The relationship between atypical semantic activation and odd speech in schizotypy across emotionally evocative conditions. *Schizophrenia Research*, *126*(1), 144-149. doi:10.10162010.06.016.
- Minor, K. S., & Cohen, A. S. (2012). The role of atypical semantic activation and stress in odd speech: Implications for individuals with psychometrically defined schizotypy. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 46(9), 1231-1236. doi:10.10162012.06.001.
- Moberg, P. J., Arnold, S. E., Doty, R. L., Kohler, C., Kanes, S., Seigel, S., ... & Turetsky, B. I. (2003). Impairment of odor hedonics in men with schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160(10), 1784-1789.doi: 10.1176.160.10.1784.
- Mueser, K.T, Curran P.J., & McHugo, G.J. (1997). Factor structure of the Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale in schizophrenia. Psychological Assessment ;9:196-204.doi: 10.1037/1040 3590.9.3.196.

- Mundy, P., Sigman, M., Ungerer, J., & Sherman, T. (1986). Defining the social deficits of autism: The contribution of non-verbal communication measures. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 27(5), 657-669. doi: 10.11111469-7610.1986.
- Najolia, G. M., Cohen, A. S., & Minor, K. S. (2011). A laboratory study of affectivity in schizotypy: Subjective and lexical analysis. *Psychiatry Research*, 189(2), 233-238. doi:10.10162011.07.012.
- FaceReader Version 4.0. Noldus Information Technology 2010.
- Nunn, J. A., Rizza, F., & Peters, E. R. (2001). The incidence of schizotypy among cannabis and alcohol users. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 189(11),741-748. PMID: 11758656.
- O'Donovan, MC, Williams, N.M., & Owen, M.J. (2003). Recent advances in the genetics of schizophrenia". *Human Molecular Genetics*. 2: R125, 33. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddg302...
- Pennebaker, J. W., Francis, M. E., & Booth, R. J. (2001). Linguistic inquiry and word count: LIWC 2001. *Mahway: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates*, 71.
- Pennebaker, J. W., Chung, C. K., Ireland, M., Gonzales, A., & Booth, R. J. (2007). The development and psychometric properties of LIWC2007.
- Raine, A. (1991) The SPQ: A scale for the assessment of schizotypal personality based on DSM-III-R criteria. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 17, 555–564.
- Salyers, M. P., & Mueser, K. T. (2001). Social functioning, psychopathology, and medication side effects in relation to substance use and abuse in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research*, 48(1), 109-123. doi:10.1016/S0920-9964(00)00063-3.
- Schlenker, B. R., & Leary, M. R. (1982). Social anxiety and self-presentation: A conceptualization model. *Psychological Bulletin*, 92(3), 641. doi: 10.1037//0033 2909.92.3.641.
- Serby, M., Larson, P., & Kalkstein, D. (1990). Olfactory sense in psychoses. *Biological Psychiatry*, 28(9), 830. doi:10.1016/0006-3223(90)90520-C.
- Simon, G., Wagner, E., & Vonkorff, M. (1995). Cost-effectiveness comparisons using "real world" randomized trials: the case of new antidepressant drugs. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 48(3), 363-373. doi:10.1016/0895-4356(94)00141-C.
- Sobel, M. E. (1982). Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. *Sociological Methodology*, *13*, 290-312.

- Slaney, M., & Naylor, P. A. (2011). Audio and Acoustic Signal Processing [In the Spotlight]. Signal Processing Magazine, IEEE, 28(5), 160-150. doi: 10.1109.2011.941985
- Sreenivasan K.V., Abraham A, Verghese A. (1987): Right temporal lobe functions in psychiatric disorders. *Independent Journal of Clinical Psychology*. 14: 40–42.
- Stefanis, N. C., Smyrnis, N., Avramopoulos, D., & Stefanis, C. N. (2004). Factorial composition of self-rated schizotypal traits among young males undergoing military training. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 30(2), 335. PMID:15279051.
- Sutker, P. B., & Adams, H. E. (1993). *Comprehensive Handbook of Psychopathology*. Plenum Press. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-3008-4.
- Tandon, R., Nasrallah, H. A., & Keshavan, M. S. (2009). Schizophrenia, "just the facts" 4. Clinical features and conceptualization. *Schizophrenia Research*,110(1), 1-23. doi:10.10162009.03.005.
- Tausczik, Y. R., & Pennebaker, J. W. (2010). The psychological meaning of words: LIWC and computerized text analysis methods. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 29(1), 24-54. doi:10.1177/026192709351676.
- Tsuang, M. T., Stone, W. S., & Faraone, S. V. (1999). Schizophrenia: a review of genetic studies. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 7(4), 185-207. doi: 10.3109/hrp.7.4.185.
- Vogel, M., Braungardt, T., Grabe, H. J., Schneider, W., & Klauer, T. (2013). Detachment, compartmentalization, and schizophrenia: Linking dissociation and psychosis by subtype. *Journal of Trauma & Dissociation*, 14(3), 273-287.
- Vollema, M. G., & van den Bosch, R. J. (1995). The multidimensionality of schizotypy. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 21(1), 19-31. doi:10.1080/15299732.2012.724760.
- Waldeck & Miller (2000). Social skills deficits in schizotypal personality disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, 93(3): 237-246. doi:10.1016/S0165-1781(00)00122-0.
- Wilkinson, G.S., & Robertson, G.J. (2006). Wrat 4: Wide Range Achievement Test; *professional manual*. Psychological Assessment Resources, Incorporated.
- Wu, E. Q., Shi, L., Birnbaum, H., Hudson, T., & Kessler, R. (2006). Annual prevalence of diagnosed schizophrenia in the USA: a claims data analysis approach. *Psychological Medicine*, 36(11), 1535-1540.doi:10.1017S0033291706008191
- Wuthrich, V., & Bates, T. C. (2005). Reliability and validity of two likert versions of the Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ). *Personality and Individual Differences*, 38(7), 1543-1548. doi:10.10162004.09.017.

Yung, A. R., Stanford, C., Cosgrave, E., Killackey, E., Phillips, L., Nelson, B., & McGorry, PD. (2006). Testing the ultra-high risk (prodromal) criteria for the prediction of in a clinical sample of young people. *Schizophrenia Research*, 84(1), 57-66. doi:10.1016.2006.03.014.

Appendix A

Consent Form

<u>Project Title:</u> Identifying the vocal markers of schizophrenia spectrum disorders <u>Performance Site:</u>

322 Audubon Hall, LSU, Baton Rouge, LA 70803.

<u>Investigator:</u> The following investigator is available for questions Monday-Friday, 9:00 a.m.-4:30 p.m.

Alex S. Cohen, Ph.D. Psychology Department, LSU (225) 578-7017

<u>Purpose of the Study</u>: The purpose of this research project is to understand the relationship between cognition, emotion and social functioning and personality characteristics in college students.

<u>Inclusion Criteria:</u> You are being asked to participate in this study because you are a Louisiana State University undergraduate who is over the age of 18 who showed a scoring pattern of interest on our on-line personality screening measures, or were recruited through the undergraduate psychology experiment pool.

Exclusion Criteria: Individuals showing the scoring pattern of interest on the personality screening measure are eligible to participate. There are no specific exclusion criteria. <u>Maximum Number of Subjects:</u> The maximum number of participants for this phase will be 1000.

<u>Study Procedures/Description of the Study:</u> I am aware that this study will take approximately 2 hours. I will be asked to fill out a number of questionnaires that assess my emotion, personality, cognitive functions and mental health history. My voice and face will be recorded during several parts of this study. I will also be asked to play some memory and attention games on the computer. For participating in this session, I will receive 3 experimental credits. If I am not enrolled in a psychology course, I will be compensated \$20 cash. For one of the attention games in this study, I will be entered in a lottery for one of three cash prizes of \$50. I will be entered into this lottery regardless of whether I am enrolled in a psychology course or not.

For part of this study, I will have my eye movements tracked using a small headband mounted camera. This camera, sometimes referred to as an "eye-tracker" uses an invisible infrared light that shines a weak spot of light on the retina. The amount of infrared light absorbed by the retina will be less than 7.5% of the suggested Maximum Permissible Exposure for continuous sources of infrared light given by Sliney and Freasier (Evaluation of optical radiation hazards. Applied Optics, 1973, 12, 1-24). This level of light is comparable to what a person would receive on a sunny day. The eyetracker will be worn for approximately 10 minutes.

<u>Benefits:</u> I understand that I will not directly benefit from participating in this study. My participation will help researchers find out more information about mental illnesses.

<u>Risks/Discomforts:</u> I understand that I will be expected to complete the 2 hour-long session. This may be inconvenient. I also recognize that I will be asked to talk about my mental health history. Other than this discomfort, there are no known risks.

<u>Right to Refuse:</u> Participation in this study is voluntary. I may refuse to answer any questions or discontinue any test I am taking. Further, I can change my mind and withdraw from this study at any time without penalty or loss of any benefit to which I would otherwise be entitled to. <u>Privacy:</u> All information obtained in this study will be kept confidential unless release is legally compelled. Limits to confidentiality include situations where an individual is at risk of hurting themselves (e.g., suicide) or hurting someone else (e.g., homicide, child abuse). I understand that the investigators are required by law to report any reasonable suspicions.

All records will be kept in a locked laboratory in a secure facility. Electronic data will be entered without identifying information and will be password protected. To ensure confidentiality, I will be assigned a number. All information collected during this study will be linked to this number and kept separate from any identifying information such as my name. Results of the study may be published, but no names or identifying information will be included for publication. <u>Financial Information:</u> For participating in this study, I will receive four experimental course credits, or \$20 cash if I am not enrolled in a psychology course. Additionally, for one of the attention games in this study, I will be entered in a lottery for one of three cash prizes of \$50. <u>Withdrawal:</u> Participation in this study is voluntary. I may withdraw from this study at any time without penalty or loss of any benefit to which I would otherwise be entitled to. Signatures:

The study has been discussed with me and all my questions have been answered. I may direct additional questions regarding study specifics to the investigators. If I have questions about subjects' rights or other concerns, I can contact Robert C. Mathews, Chairman, LSU Institutional Review Board, (225)578-8692. I agree to participate in the study described above and acknowledge the researchers' obligation to provide me with a copy of this consent form if signed by me.

Participant Signature

Date

Appendix B

IRB Approval

TO: Alex Cohen Psychology FROM: Dennis Landin Chair, Institutional Review Board DATE: November 21, 2014 RE: IRB# E9100 TITLE: Anonymous Survey for Support Systems to Improve Care for Mental Illness New Protocol/Modification/Continuation: New Protocol Review Date: 11/21/2014 Approved X Disapproved_ Approval Date: 11/21/2014 Approval Expiration Date: 11/20/2017 Exemption Category/Paragraph: 2a,b Signed Consent Waived?: Yes Re-review frequency: (three years unless otherwise stated) LSU Proposal Number (if applicable): Protocol Matches Scope of Work in Grant proposal: (if applicable) By: Dennis Landin, Chairman PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR: PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING -Continuing approval is CONDITIONAL on: 1. Adherence to the approved protocol, familiarity with, and adherence to the ethical standards of the Belmont Report, and LSU's Assurance of Compliance with DHHS regulations for the protection of human subjects* 2. Prior approval of a change in protocol, including revision of the consent documents or an increase in the number of subjects over that approved. 3. Obtaining renewed approval (or submittal of a termination report), prior to the approval expiration date, upon request by the IRB office (irrespective of when the project actually begins); notification of project termination. 4. Retention of documentation of informed consent and study records for at least 3 years after the study ends. 5. Continuing attention to the physical and psychological well-being and informed consent of the individual participants,

including notification of new information that might affect consent.

6. A prompt report to the IRB of any adverse event affecting a participant potentially arising from the study.

7. Notification of the IRB of a serious compliance failure.

8. SPECIAL NOTE:

*All investigators and support staff have access to copies of the Belmont Report, LSU's Assurance with DHHS, DHHS

(45 CFR 46) and FDA regulations governing use of human subjects, and other relevant documents in print in this office

or on our World Wide Web site at http://www.lsu.edu/irb

Institutional Review Board

Dr. Dennis Landin, Chair

130 David Boyd Hall

Baton Rouge, LA 70803

P: 225.578.8692

F: 225.578.5983

irb@lsu.edu | lsu.edu/irb

Appendix C

Directions for HiSoc Task derived from Gibson & Penn, 2009

PARTICIPANT INSTRUCTIONS

Below are the instructions given to the participants before being video-taped:

"Ok, (participant's name) – now, we'd like you to pretend that MTV is coming up with a new reality show about student's your age, and you really want to be on it. You are going to be making a 45 second video speech to show the MTV judges why you should get picked for the show. The time will begin immediately after you press the space bar. Press the space bar when you are ready to begin speaking.

In the event that the participant said, "I wouldn't want to be on a reality show or on MTV," the participants were told the following two probes, in order:

1. "Well, do your best, it is only for 45 seconds."

2. "If TV is not your thing, then imagine that a local newspaper wants to write a story about kids your age and you really want to do that.
Table 14

Domains of Social Functioning (Based on the High-Risk Social Challenge Task (HiSoc; Gibson & Penn, 2009).

Affect	
Facial Affect	Facial movement (frequency of blinking, flatness, no smiling), excessive smiling.
Non-Verbal Expression	Capacity to use body language (such as posture) in a non- restricted style and to engage "audience"
Appropriate Affect	Ability to express emotions through facial expressions, gestures and vocal tone that is interpreted as natural, not forced, and not restrictive
Gaze	Ability to utilize eye contact that is appropriate during communication (that is neither distinctly avoidance, odd or exaggerated).
Physical Anergia	Ability to maintain appropriate energy level for what is asked of the individual (this includes being able to communicate effectual vigor or liveliness in answering questions that is neither deficit or inflated.
Behavioral and Language	
Appearance	Capacity to appear and convey engagement in tasks or communication style. Avoiding excessive bodily fidgeting and appropriate motor control.
Tangential Speech	Staying on topic (deviation from answering the question)
Content of Speech	Ability to stay on task using appropriate speech, staying on topic, and answering the question being asked
Speech Valence	Using appropriate negative and positive appraisal, not excessively negativistic or internal or external negativistic language (e.g. this is stupid or I am terrible at everything) or excessively positive speech.
Clear Communication	Capacity to unambiguously convey ideas and answers without obscure language ,or noticeably divergent speech
Social Interpersonal	
Fluency of Speech	Ease of communication and efficiency in conveying ideas

66

	through speech
Social Anxiety	How comfortable participant appears. Assess for excessive
	shaking, fidgeting, squirming or stuttering.
Guardedness	The ability to come off appropriately disinhibited in
	answering questions and able to use restraint from extreme
	familiarity when not called for
Engagement	Capacity to maintain proportionate interest in a task or
	communication.

VITA

Tracey Lauren Auster is from Briarcliff Manor, NY and a graduate of Franklin & Marshall College in psychology. She is currently a Postdoctoral Fellow at VA Boston practicing Evidence Based Psychotherapy for individuals who suffer from trauma-related mental health symptoms. She will continue to pursue a career in trauma focused psychotherapy.